Quantification of Organic Pollutants and Detection of Microplastic

within Soil from Varying Landscapes in Antarctica

by

Kenneth C. Carroll

A Thesis Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Master of Science

Approved June 2022 by the Graduate Supervisory Committee:

Beth Polidoro, Co-Chair Ann Kinzig, Co-Chair Becky Ball

ARIZONA STATE UNIVERSITY

August 2022

ABSTRACT

Advanced technology has increased access to Antarctica; consequently, there has been an increase in research and tourism. The production of the new technology and the increased number of individuals visiting can increase the presence of persistent organic pollutants and microplastic within Antarctic soil. Studies have focused primarily on identifying these pollutants in high human impact areas with perhaps an assumption that low human impact areas would have lower concentrations of pollutants. The object of this paper, therefore, was to test the hypothesis that higher concentrations of persistent organic pollutants and microplastic are found in soils collected near research stations and tourist areas, as opposed to sites that are further from stations and have less direct human impact.

Soil samples were collected along a 1,500 km transect of the Scotia Arch and Antarctic Peninsula from three high human impact sites and three low human impact sites to compare the concentration of contaminates identified within the soil. The presence and quantities of microplastic were identified using Nile Red and fluorescence microscopy, while gas chromatography-mass spectrometry was used to detect polychlorinated biphenyls, pesticides, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, n-alkane, and phthalates. Although varying contaminate concentration levels were found at all six sights, counter to the hypothesis, there were no clear patterns of increasing pollutants with increasing human activities. These findings could imply that global sources of pollutants can increase local pollutants indicating the best way to solve any pollution problem is through a global lens.

i

DEDICATION

For all those who dare to be different and chase their dreams.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I acknowledge that there are not enough words to express my gratitude for all the love, help, and support I received throughout this experience. A big thank goes out to my committee and all the professors who taught and challenged me to put forth my best work; without your knowledge, help, and guidance, I would have never been able to reach the next step of my academic adventure. A big thank you goes out to all my friends and peers who helped edit papers and lent an ear when I needed to vent; without you, I would have lost my sanity. Finally, a big thank you to my family, who instilled the values I needed to succeed; without you, I would never be able to chase my dreams.

	Page
LIST OF TABLES	vii
LIST OF FIGURES	viii
CHAPTER	
1 PERSISTENT ORGANIC POLLUTANTS	1
1. Polychlorinated Biphenyl	1
2. Pesticide	2
3. Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbon	3
4. Phthalate	3
5. Microplastic	4
6. Transport of Persistent Organic Pollutants	5
7. Persistent Organic Pollutants in Antarctica	6
2 PERSISTENT ORGANIC POLLUTANTS IN ANTARCTIC SOIL	7
1. Methods	12
1.1. Study Site Description	12
1.2. Persistent Organic Pollutant Quantification	13
1.2.1. Sample Preparation	13
1.2.2. Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectroscopy	14
1.2.3. Calibration Curve and Analysis	15

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER

	Page
1.3. Microplastic Quantification	13
1.3.1. Isolation from Soils	16
1.3.2. Oil Extraction Treatment	17
1.3.3 Detection with Fluorescent Microscopy	18
1.4. Statistical Analysis	18
2. Results	19
2.1. Polychlorinated Biphenyl (PCB)	19
2.2. Pesticide	20
2.3. Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbon (PAH)	20
2.4. n-Alkane	21
2.5. Phthalate	21
2.6. Microplastic	22
2.7. Pollutant Relationship to Soil Properties	22
3. Discussion	23
3.1. Polychlorinated Biphenyl (PCB)	23
3.2. Pesticide	25
3.3. Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbon (PAH)	27
3.4. n-Alkane	28
3.5. Phthalate	29
3.6. Microplastic	
4. Conclusion	32

CHAPTER		Page	
3	NEXT STEPS	34	
REFE	RENCES	50	
APPEN	NDIX		
А	DATA TABLES OF CONCENTRATIONS	64	

LIST OF TABLES

Page		able	Та
	Site Soil Properti	1.	
	Correlation Coeff	2.	
	Detected Concent	A1.	
ides66	Detected Concent	A2.	
	Detected Concent	A3.	
anes68	Detected Concent	A4.	
ates69	Detected Concent	A5.	
	Counted Pieces o	A6.	

Figure	Page
1.	Site Locations
2.	Average Summed PCB Concentration
3.	Maximum PCB Concentration
4.	Maximum Trichlorobiphenyl Concentration
5.	Trichlorobiphenyl ANOVA and post hoc Tukey
6.	Average Summed Pesticide Concentration40
7.	Maximum Pesticide Concentration40
8.	Maximum Pesticide Concentration41
9.	Average Summed PAH Concentration
10.	Maximum PAH Concentration42
11.	Maximum PAH Concentration
12.	Anthracene ANOVA and post hoc Tukey43
13.	Average Summed n-Alkane Concentration43
14.	Maximum n-Alkane Concentration44
15.	Alkane C-16 ANOVA and post hoc Tukey44
16.	Alkane C-18 ANOVA and post hoc Tukey45
17.	Alkane C-30 ANOVA and post hoc Tukey45
18.	Alkane C-36 ANOVA and post hoc Tukey46
19.	Average Summed Phatahlate Concentration46
20.	Maximum Phatahlate Concentration47
21.	Dibutyl Phthalate ANOVA and post hoc Tukey47

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure		Page
22.	Average Microplastic	48
23.	Microplastic ANOVA and post hoc Tukey	48
24.	Possible Microplastic	49

CHAPTER 1

PERSISTENT ORGANIC POLLUTANTS

Persistent organic pollutants (POPs) are organic chemicals that are synthetically produced or emitted by humans' use of fossil fuels. The chemical properties of POPs enable them to remain and accumulate in varying environmental matrices. Once in these environments, POPs can cause toxicological damage to the ecosystems that they contaminate. The detrimental effects of these pollutants raised global concerns, and in 2001 the United Nations Stockholm Convention placed bans and restrictions on several of these compounds. Despite the restrictions, POPs remain in the atmosphere, making them legacy pollutants. These chemicals are grouped by chemical structure and consist of polychlorinated biphenyls, pesticides, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, phthalates, and microplastic.

Polychlorinated Biphenyl

Two hundred and nine contaminants, called congeners, form the group of persistent organic pollutants known as polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs). Each of the 209 congeners consists of a biphenyl base where chlorines replace hydrogens. The PCB congener is determined by the number and location of chlorine substitutions (Stackelberg 2011). PCBs are heat resistant, chemically stable, and have excellent insulation. From about 1929-1979, roughly 1.5 million metric tons of PCBs were used as an ingredient for producing electrical and construction materials including plastic, paints, and insulators (Thomas 2008). Production, mismanaged disposal, and burning of materials containing PCBs released them into the atmosphere and began to accumulate. PCBs' ubiquitous nature, environmental hazards, and health concerns eventually led to a ban in the United States and Europe. Although these two countries banned PCBs, it was not until 2001, under the United Nations Stockholm Convention, that the use of PCBs began to be eliminated worldwide (Boer 2005). Although PCBs were banned, they continually persist in the atmosphere in the 21st century, making them legacy pollutants.

Pesticide

Pesticides are synthesized organic compounds that control unwanted pests such as weeds, fungus, ants, and mosquitoes. There are different types of pesticides; however, priority has been placed on banning and phasing out a group of highly toxic chlorinated pesticides known as organochlorine pesticides, from this point on, referred to as 'pesticides.' DDT is the most notorious pesticide that inspired Rachel Carson to write her book, "Silent Spring," which informed the public of the dangers of pesticides. Two banned pesticides usually detected in persistent organic pollutant studies are hexachlorobenzene (HCB) and mirex. From 1978-1981, at its peak use, per year, one thousand metric tons of HCB were produced globally (Barber et al. 2005). Countries began placing restrictions and bans on the production of HCB, and since then, there has been a seventy to ninety-five percent reduction in emissions (Barber et al. 2005). Mirex was produced from 1957 to 1976 in the United States to combat fire ants and act as a flame retardant; however, the global use of mirex continued until the Stockholm Convention in 2001 (United Nations 2002). Mirex has twelve chlorines and adsorbs strongly to soil particles; therefore, it is less likely to be distributed by long-range

2

atmospheric transport. Mirex is most likely distributed long distances because it bioaccumulates in migratory species (Agency for Toxic Substances 2020).

Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbon

Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) are persistent organic pollutants that can be emitted naturally or anthropogenically. Volcanoes and burning forests are the primary sources of naturally emitted PAHs. Incomplete combustion of fuels from motorized transportation, oil spills, and industrial emissions are sources of anthropogenic PAH pollution (Stogiannidis and Laane, 2015). In 2007, humans emitted an estimated 504 Gg of PAHs into the atmosphere (Shen et al. 2013). PAHs are biphenyl rings fused together and, depending on the number of fused biphenyls, are grouped as high and lowweight PAHs. Low-weight PAHS contain up to three benzene rings, and high-weight PAHs have more than three benzene rings. Low-weight PAHs are typically used in fuel production and are more toxic to the environment than heavy-weight PAHS (Net et al. 2015). PAHs are semi-volatile and lipophilic and will remain in the soil longer than in the atmosphere (Meador 2010).

Phthalate

Plastics for consumer and commercial goods and materials are cheap, durable, and flexible. To make plastic strong and flexible, chemicals called plasticizers are added during production. The final plastic product can contain ten to sixty percent of plasticizer by weight (Giuliani et al. 2020). Of the one-hundred different types of plasticizers, phthalates are used the most globally, and six to eight million metric tons are produced annually (Baloyi et al. 2021). A phthalate contains a phthalic anhydride esterified by an alcohol ranging from C3 to C6. Phthalates are not chemically bonded to plastic, allowing them to break away from their parent material and enter the environment. The ubiquitous and potentially toxic nature of several phthalates in the environment has caused concern in several countries. The United States and the European Union have officially listed several phthalates, including diethylhexyl phthalate and dibutyl phthalate, as chemicals of concern and are working towards phasing them out of production (Wang et al. 2018).

Microplastic

In 2015, an estimated 322 million metric tons of plastic were produced worldwide (Plastics Europe 2017; Borelle et al. 2020), with a calculated plastic waste of 66-99 million metric tons (Lebreton and Andrady 2019). The amount of plastic production and pollution can potentially become a geographical marker for the Age of the Anthropocene (Zalasiewic et al. 2016). Plastic and its derivatives can therefore be included as a persistent organic pollutant that has become ubiquitous in the environment. Microplastic, a type and derivative of plastic has been a hot topic issue with copious amounts of research published since 2006. For an in-depth, comprehensive review of the most current research, refer to the work published by Rozman and Kalčíková (2022). In brief, microplastic is a piece of plastic measuring 1000µm-1µm in size and categorized as either primary or secondary microplastic (Hartmann et al. 2019). Primary microplastic is produced at the defined size, while secondary microplastic derives from a larger degraded piece of plastic (Huang et al. 2021). Mismanaged recycling and waste management practices can lead to the dispersal of microplastic within the environment causing

toxicological effects on soil communities (Borelle et al. 2020; Guo et al. 2020). Only four percent of all microplastic research focuses on soil (Weber et al. 2021).

Transport of Persistent Organic Pollutants

Persistent organic pollutants (POPs) can travel miles from the source of contamination via the atmosphere, known as long-range atmospheric transport. If the POP is chlorinated, the number of chlorine substitutions can determine the distance traveled in the atmosphere. POPs with higher chlorine substitutions tend to remain in a particulate phase and travel a short distance. Lower chlorine substituted POPs tend to stay in a gas phase and travel great distances (Shields et al. 2014). Lower temperatures can cause all gas-phase POPs in the atmosphere to condense and collect in soil. Scavenging is another mechanism in which POPs partition from the atmosphere and enter the soil matrix. Once in the soil POPs degrade slowly because microbes, the main degrader of POPs in soil, are less efficient than the hydroxyl radicals in the atmosphere (Shields 2014). As temperatures rise, POPs can re-volatilize, be transported through the atmosphere, and be deposited in soil at a different location. This is known as the grasshopper effect (Bhardwaj et al. 2018). The grasshopper effect, combined with meteorologic patterns and the persistence of POPs in the atmosphere, enables POPs to be transported from Chile, China, Indonesian Islands, and West Australia all the way to Antarctica (Szumińska et al. 2018; Choi et al. 2008; Möller et al. 2012).

5

Persistent Organic Pollutants in Antarctica

The occurrence and resulting environmental consequences of persistent organic pollutants is an understudied topic within Antarctic soil research. An intensive literature review on POPs in Antarctica by Wang X. et al. (2019) suggests that only twelve percent of the studies focus on Antarctic soil. A majority of these studies focus on the occurrence and source of POPs and typically are conducted in single local areas within the South Shetland Islands (Szumińska et al. 2018; Carrizo et al. 2019; Na et al. 2020; Deelaman et al. 2021; Duarte et al. 2021; Perfetti-Bolaño et al. 2022).

Microplastic presence in Antarctica is a new area of research, and literature is scarce. Interest in microplastic-focused research began in 2017 with only four articles published. Literature on microplastic slowly gained traction until it peaked in 2020 with twelve published papers, and as of June 3, 2022, nine papers have been published. Microplastic research within the first two years focused on determining if Antarctica even contained microplastic, and indeed it was detected in the South Ocean (Absher et al. 2019; Isobe et al. 2017; Cincinelli et al. 2017), sediments (Munari et al. 2017; Reed et al. 2018), and even penguin scat (Bessa et al. 2019). Since the 2020 research peak, microplastics have been discovered in numerous abiotic and biotic matrices including the atmosphere (Marina-Montes et al. 2022), freshwater (González-Pleiter et al. 2020), benthic invertebrates (Sfriso et al. 2020), and soil (Perfetti-Bolaño et al. 2022).

CHAPTER 2

PERSISTENT ORGANIC POLLUTANTS IN ANTARCTIC SOIL

When people think of Antarctica, they often imagine a beautiful ice-covered continent that rests at the bottom of the world. In the earliest days of Antarctic exploration, only a handful of captains sailed into the unknown, fighting harsh seas seeking out the uncharted continent of Antarctica. Once discovered, these captains were followed by profit-seeking whalers and sealers or thrill-chasing explorers whose contributions helped chart the Antarctica of today. Advancements in transportation and technology have granted countries around the globe access to Antarctica, where scientists seek knowledge, tourists discover exotic lands, and fishermen provide resources for their respective countries. (Day 2013).

Twelve countries came together in Washington D.C. on December 1, 1959, to draft and sign the Antarctic Treaty (AT) allowing open access to all nations wanting to peacefully pursue science on the continent:

> "[I]t is in the interest of all mankind that Antarctica shall continue forever to be used exclusively for peaceful purposes and shall not become the scene or object of international discord." (Antarctic Treaty Preamble, 1959)

Countries with sovereign claims on areas prior to the AT were not required to relinquish these claims (Article IV, AT); however, they made the land open to all treaty nations, allowing for ungoverned access to science (Article II, AT). The USSR and the United States were able to set aside their Cold War differences and agreed to no military operations or maneuvers (Article V, AT) and no nuclear weapons or waste (Article V, AT), allowing for peaceful scientific opportunities even between nations with low diplomatic relations (Secretariat of the Antarctic Treaty).

When the Antarctic Treaty went into effect in 1961, there were only 12 nations with a political interest in Antarctic exploration. Since the AT's signing, the original countries have grown to a total of 29, which are called the Antarctic Treaty Consultative Members (ATCM). The ATCM convenes to discuss and vote on policies and the future of Antarctica. Antarctica is utilized by these countries for three purposes: science, tourism, and commercial fishing. As technology advances, Antarctica has become more accessible, creating an ever-growing human presence.

The increase from twenty-six research stations in 1961 to seventy-six research in 2022 shows that scientific research has grown since the signing of the AT (Secretariat of the Antarctic Treaty; Council of Managers of National Antarctic Programs; Wratt 2013). Some would argue that this increase resulted from politicians rushing to increase presence in Antarctica by taking a build first research later approach (Jabour 2009). Regardless of the cause, an increase in the stations built on scarce ice-free land can put pressure on terrestrial biota and occupy areas utilized for breeding (Brooks et al. 2019). The disposal of waste and wastewater generated by the stations is required for sanitation. Prior to Madrid Protocol in 1991, there was no clear guidance on waste disposal practices, leading to pollutants being introduced to the environment (Brooks et al. 2019; Gröndahl et al. 2009). Lastly, ships and planes carrying personnel and resupply equipment to bases burn fuel and can create a pollutant known as black carbon (Cordero et al. 2022; Khan et al. 2019).

8

The Commission for the Conservation of Marine Living Resources (CCAMLR) manages year-round commercial fishing operations for krill, toothfish, and ice fish in Antarctica (Constable 2011). Each species has specific fishable sectors; for example, krill trawling contains sectors around the Shetland Islands that overlap environmentally sensitive areas, specifically penguin and seal feeding grounds (Watters et al. 2020; Lowther et al. 2020). When combined, all the sectors for each species circumnavigate the entire continent, exposing Antarctica's oceans and coasts to fishing pollutants. The number of vessels for each species varies from year to year. In the case of krill trawling, an average of 10 ships were used in the past decade; however, the fishing vessel count may be higher or lower because it is unclear if vessels fish for multiple species. Fishing in the South Ocean may be on the decline because, in 2021, fifteen ships requested fishing permits for krill, and no permits were requested for toothfish or icefish (CCAMLR Secretariat 2020). Although regulated, fishing waste includes unintentional fishing gear pollution and partially burnt fossil fuel (Puasa et al. 2021).

The International Association of Antarctica Tour Operators (IAATO) has reported Antarctic Tourism has increased yearly from 2015 to 2020. Modern tourism in Antarctica includes cruise-only voyages, flight tours, and terrestrial landings to view penguins and participate in other tourism activities (IAATO, 2021). The increase in human activities has raised concerns about how the increased anthropogenic fingerprint will affect Antarctica's environment (Caruso et al. 2022; Cajiao et al. 2020; Puasa et al. 2021).

9

Sustaining transportation for increased tourism to and within Antarctica has required an increase in burning fossil fuels, which in turn can contribute to a rise in pollutants (Wong et al. 2021). Other sources of pollutants from increased cruise ship traffic include liquid fuel leaks from the vessels and the possibility of illegal dumping by tourists or staff. (Kariminia et al. 2013).

The influx of anthropogenic activity can bring pollutants of particular concern classified as persistent organic pollutants (POPs), which can persist for decades in the environment and cause long-term environmental damage (Isla et al. 2018). Several POPs have been identified in different Antarctic environments, including polychlorinated biphenyls, pesticides, and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (Nash 2011; Fuoco et al. 2012; Wang et al. 2022; Kim et al. 2021; Lodygin et al. 2021; Na et al. 2020). There seems to have been a focus on these legacy POPs without considering new emerging POPs such as phthalates and microplastic (Fu et al. 2020; Duarte et al. 2021).

Plastics can cause physical harm to animals by causing airway obstructions, starvation through food replacement, or acting as a vehicle to introduce varying chemicals to organisms' internal organ systems; furthermore, varying forms of degradation reduce plastics to microplastics (Huang et al. 2021). A microplastic is a piece of plastic either reduced or produced at a size ranging from 1000µm-1µm (Hartmann et al. 2019). Fewer studies focus on chemical plasticizers, such as phthalates, associated with microplastic production (Rozman and Kalčíková, 2022). Plasticizers are not chemically bonded to the microplastic and can be transported to and throughout different environments. In soil, these phthalates can disassociate from on and within the microplastic and migrate through the soil column, causing adverse effects on the soil community (Net et al. 2015; Rozman and Kalčíková, 2022). There are significant knowledge gaps on POP's occurrence and effects in Antarctic soil; only 12% of Antarctic POP research is dedicated to the soil matrix (Wang et al. 2019), while 4% of all MP research accounts for soil (Weber et al. 2021).

Most people have focused on identifying persistent organic pollutants and microplastic within soil at various locations within the South Shetland Islands (Szumińska et al. 2018; Carrizo et al. 2019; Na et al. 2020; Deelaman et al. 2021; Duarte et al. 2021; Perfetti-Bolaño et al. 2022), with perhaps the assumption that high human impact areas contain higher amounts of pollutants than low human impact areas. The object of this paper, therefore, was to test the hypothesis that there are higher concentrations of persistent organic pollutants and microplastic found in soils collected near research stations and tourist areas, as opposed to sites that are further from stations and have less direct human impact. As persistent organic pollutants and microplastic can be transported long distances through the atmosphere (Petersen and Hubbart 2021; Evangeliou et al. 2020; Zhang et al. 2019; Szumińska et al. 2018; Möller et al. 2012; Barbra et al. 2005), it is not possible for this study to identify the source of contaminants. However, if there are increased concentrations of pollutants at sites with increased human activities, this may indicate that human presence is an important contributor to the type and concentration of persistent organic pollutants and microplastic in Antarctica.

Methods

Study Site Description

From November 2015 to January 2016, six soil samples were collected from each of the six sites (36 total soil samples) along a 1500 km transect of the Scotia Arch and Antarctic Peninsula: Signy Island, Anchorage Island, Biscoe Point, Berthelot Island, Jenny Island, and Ares Oasis (Figure 1) (Ball et al. 2022). For the rest of this study, sites will be referred to by the first word of the location, i.e., Signy Island will be referred to as Signy. Using anthropogenic data from Pertierra et al. (2017) and site location factors, we assumed that three sites had a higher human impact (Signy, Anchorage, and Biscoe, hereafter referred to as "high impact" sites) and three sites had a lower human impact (Berthelot, Jenny, and Ares, hereafter referred to as "low impact sites) (Figure 1). Researchers frequently use high-impact sites and are closer to larger stations that regularly receive air and marine traffic for scientists and tourists. At the smaller, harder to access low impact sites, there are fewer studies conducted. Ares was assumed to be the lowest impact site because it is isolated and situated amid glaciers and sea ice. Furthermore, Ares can only be accessed by air coupled with a long trek across a glacier, making it the least accessible of all six sites.

Each of the six soil samples was collected from each site using random sampling intervals from bare soil, or soils free of vegetation and snow cover (Ball et al. 2022). A 10 cm diameter metal core was used to contain the sample area and depths of 1-10 cm were homogenized in-situ using a metal spatula. Young soils and shallow depths limited samples to be taken at depths of 1-10 cm. High organic content prevented successful separation from soil using a sieve. At least six 25g samples of soil were collected from each contained sample area, placed into a plastic whirl-pak bag, and stored at -20 degrees Celsius. Extensive physicochemical measurements were made on each of the soil samples (Ball et all, 2022). However, the high organic content of the soils prevented measurements of soil texture and bulk density. Analysis results showed that soils had varying, but generally low, levels of organic material, measured as percent lost on ignition or LOI (Table 1).

Persistent Organic Pollutant Quantification

Sample preparation. Soil samples were thawed and homogenized using a porcelain mortar and pestle. A 5g subsample was obtained and placed into a borosilicate glass jar with polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE) lined lids and mixed with 30 mL of Hexane and 30 mL of acetone to extract semi-polar and nonpolar compounds. Additionally, 1mL of 39 μ g/mL p-terphenyl was added as a method recovery surrogate (Polidoro et al. 2022).

To achieve equilibrium, sample jars were placed on a rotator with the hexane: acetone solution for at least 48 hours. The hexane: acetone solution was then filtered using a glass fiber filter (Whatman, 7-micron pore size) and a vacuum flask. Sample extracts were then passed through a large glass filter column containing sodium sulfate and silica gel to remove excess water and polar compounds. Several extracts were still rich in naturally occurring organic material; therefore, they required a second round of filtration. For this round, a small column containing Florisil, or magnesium silicate, filtered out the remaining organic acids and similar soil compounds. Samples were then condensed to 0.5 mL using Nitrogen gas and placed into a gas-chromatography mass spectroscopy (GC-MS) glass vial. 0.2 mL of each extract was sub-sampled and analyzed for organic pollutants using gas chromatography in tandem with mass spectroscopy (GC-MS).

Gas chromatography-mass spectroscopy. A Varian 3800 gas chromatographer was used for the analysis of compounds. An auto-injector collected and dispensed 0.1 mL of sample into the gas chromatograph. The samples were gradually heated in a column and separated based on molecular weight and volatilization temperature. Compounds with lower volatilization temperatures were separated from the sample first and then pushed through the column with helium gas. If two molecules had the same volatilization temperature, the molecule with less mass would move faster, reaching the column's end before the slower molecule with a greater mass. A detector generated a peak based on the amount of time it took the compound to reach the end of the column (retention time) by a function of the compound's molecular weight, volatilization temperature, and concentration amount (M-count). The peak was compared to combinations in the NIST library to identify a possible match. Gas chromatography was coupled with mass spectroscopy to verify the compound's identity and quantify its concentration.

A Saturn 2200 electron ionization mass spectrometer was used to analyze compounds. The compound dropped from the column of the GC-MS into the mass spectrometer and was bombarded by electrons. Electrons broke the compound into molecular ions; however, the high amount of electrons can also break molecular ions into fragments. The different ions travel through a quadrupole and are sorted into relative amounts of differing molecular ions, or quant ions. In doing so, the compound was given

a chemical 'fingerprint,' and when it was compared to the NIST library database, the compound identification was verified. Fingerprint data was collected from varying concentrations of pure known compounds, or standards. This information was used to create calibration curves to quantify the amount of the compounds found in the Antarctic soil samples.

Samples were analyzed for approximately three hundred individual contaminants, with detection limits reported in Polidoro et al. (2017). Minimum detection limits (MDL) were estimated by doubling the lowest standard concentration that showed a peak, with a signal-to-noise ratio greater than three. Extraction method recoveries ranged from 40% to 90% for PCBs, 25%–70% for pesticides, from 30% to 80% for phthalates, and from 20% to 90% for PAHs. All results presented are uncorrected for method recoveries.

Calibration curve and analysis. Compound standards were required to accurately analyze mass spectroscopy data and quantify the unknown concentrations of polychlorinated biphenyls, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, pesticides, phthalates, and n-alkane within Antarctic soil samples. Samples were tested for more than 350 compounds; therefore, the standards were consolidated into pre-determined groups to minimize the required calibration sets. To make the compound standards, pure compounds were measured and dissolved in 10mL of Hexane. At least six serial dilutions were taken from the 10mL standard twice to obtain two sets of decreasing concentrations. One set of dilutions was tested prior to the soil samples to obtain a baseline concentration, and the other set of dilutions was tested after all samples to account for any change in concentration. To create the calibration curve, the known dilution

15

concentrations of the compound were plotted against the area underneath the peak of the compound's retention time. The resulting linear regression and trend line equation was used to create the calibration curve for the known compound.

Antarctic samples that were tested produced peaks at specific retention times, indicating unknown compounds within the soil. GC-MS data were used to determine and verify the type of compound, and the calibration curve of that specific compound was used to quantify the concentration. The linear trend line equation was y=mx: where y=the area beneath the peak of the unknown; m=the area of the peak beneath the standard; and x= the concentration of compound (μ g/mL) in the sample. This is possible because the area beneath the peak calculated by the GC-MS is directly related to the concentration amount of the sample. The concentration value of each detected pollutant was then divided by the sample weight of 5 grams which gave the final concentration in parts per million (ppm) or μ g pollutant / g of soil.

Microplastic Quantification

Isolation from soils. The remaining 20g of soil from each sample was placed into a 250 mL borosilicate glass sample jar with PTFE lids and subject to a series of hydrogen peroxide treatments to oxidize organic matter. On day one, 30 mL of 30% hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) was added to the soil sample jar. On days two and three 10 mL of H_2O_2 was added to replace H_2O_2 lost as carbon dioxide from the organic material being oxidized (modified from Roblin and Aherne 2020; Herrera et al. 2018). After the threeday, hydrogen-peroxide bath, 100mL of 5 M sodium chloride was added to the sample jar and left for 3 days to let clay particles settle. Although samples still maintained a turbid appearance, skimming took place after 3 days to prevent extended exposure to hydrogen peroxide causing changes in polymer structure (Pfohl et al. 2021). The samples were skimmed using a glass baster and aliquoted into new 250 mL borosilicate glass sample jars. This process was repeated four times (over 12 days) to extract all pieces of microplastic. This iterative density floatation method has been shown to isolate at least 85% of microplastic from soils and sediment matrices (Polidoro et al. 2022, among others).

Oil extraction treatment. As some lighter minerals and undigested organic matter was noted in the sodium chloride extracts; a second oil extraction treatment was developed (modified from Lechthaler et al. 2020) to separate microplastic from the other low-density minerals or other compounds. The sodium chloride extracts from each soil sample were left for approximately 1 week allowing all clay particles and dense materials to settle at the bottom of the sample jars. The top layer was then skimmed with a glass baster using caution to keep the settled bottom layer undisturbed. The top layer was aliquoted into a borosilicate glass separation funnel, with 5 mL of filtered store-bought canola oil. This mixture was mixed by swirling the separation funnel and creating a vortex. The separation funnel was left for 20 minutes, allowing time for the oil to separate from the sodium chloride and water solution. It was noted that 20 min was not ample enough time for the clay and/or other minerals to settle completely to the bottom of the separation filter; again, due to time constraints, filtration was conducted regardless of the turbidity of the sample. The oil was then filtered through a 1 µm black polycarbonate filter using a vacuum flask. Excess oil was broken-up by using Alco-jet, a

low suds soap. The polycarbonate filter was then transferred to a microscope viewing slide.

To account for any losses of microplastic due to sticking on the sides of the glass separation funnel, the drained sodium chloride sample, including the sediment, was reintroduced into the used separation funnel a second time. The sample jar was rinsed out into the separation funnel using di-ionized (DI) water, and the sides of the separationfunnel were also sprayed down using DI water to collect any plastics that had adhered to the glass. An additional 5mL of canola oil was added to the separation funnel and swirled to create a vortex and let sit for 20 min. The oil was then filtered onto a second 1 μ m black polycarbonate filter using a vacuum flask and transferred onto a second microscope viewing slide.

Detection with fluorescent microscopy. A day prior to viewing the sample with an Olympus Bx3 microscope, 4-6 drops of 1mg Nile Red to 1L of methanol were added to each filter sample. Nile red is a dye that adsorbs to plastics, fluorescing under the microscope (Maes et al. 2017; Stanton et al. 2019; Nel et al. 2021). A count of microplastic was obtained by visually scanning the filter paper and taking a count of the fluorescing objects using images taken with the computer program cellSense.

Statistical Analyses

One-way analyses of variance (ANOVAs) were run using Minitab Statistical Software to identify any statistical significances in average persistent organic pollutants (POPs) concentrations detected across the six sampling sites. Given that source, timing and degradation state of POPs are generally not known in non-target contaminant analyses, resulting in a distribution that tends to be very patchy, pollutant concentration data may not be normally distributed. As a result, many contaminants detected were only detected in one or just a few soil samples, with widely varying concentrations. Additionally, reported contaminant concentrations were not corrected for method recoveries due to the wide range of recoveries including a high number of non-detects or zero values (which does not necessarily mean the contaminant was not present, but that it was not detected in concentrations above method or instrument detection levels.) For these reasons, one-way ANOVAs could only be conducted for selected contaminants that had detections (e.g. non-zero values) in the majority of the 36 soil samples (e.g 2,4,4 Trichlorobiphenyl, Anthracene, Dibutyl Phthalate, the Alkanes, and Microplastics). Where site differences were significant, a post hoc Tukey test was run to determine which sites differentiate.

Results

Counter to the hypothesis, there were no clear patterns of increased pollutants with increased human activities in selected sites.

Polychlorinated Biphenyl (PCB)

Ares, a low impact site, contained the highest concentration of PCBs, with an average summed PCB concentration of 0.40 parts per million (PPM). The remaining sites (including all three high impact sites) contained average summed PCB concentrations below 0.17 PPM (Figure 2). Nine different types of PCBs were found across all six

sample sites, eight of which were at concentrations below 0.018 PPM (Figure 3). PCB 2,4,4'-Trichlorobiphenyl was by far the most abundant PCB contained in each site's soil sample, except for Anchorage, with levels below the detectable limit. The concentration range of 2,4,4'-trichlorobiphenyl was between 0.28 PPM at Biscoe and 5.7 PPM at Ares. (Figure 4).

Pesticide

Samples from Berthelot and Ares, both low impact sites, had the highest average summed or combined pesticide concentrations of 0.010 PPM and 0.008 PPM, respectively. The third highest concentration was found at Biscoe, a high impact site with a concentration of 0.004 PPM. The remaining three sites had average concentrations that were more than 10 times lower than Biscoe (Figure 6). Only four types of pesticides were found across the six sample sites, hexachlorobenzene, mirex, fenitrothion, and 4H-cyclopenta[def]phenanthrene. The highest concentration pesticide was 4H-cyclopenta[def]phenanthrene in Ares at 0.06 PPM (Figure 7). The other three pesticide maxima ranged from a high of 0.009 PPM to a low of 0.001 PPM across the sample sites (Figure 8).

Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbon (PAH)

Average summed concentrations of PAHs were below 0.001 PPM across five of the sample sites. The sixth sample site, the low impact site Ares, had an average summed PAH concentration of 0.002 PPM (Figure 9). Nine types of PAHs were found across the sample sites; seven of which were below 0.001 PPM and dibenz(a,h)anthracene in Anchorage had a concentration of 0.002 PPM (Figure 10). Anthracene was the highest PAH contaminant found at all six locations with a concentration of 0.009 PPM. Fluorene was identified as the second highest PAH contaminant in soil samples from Signy, Jenny, and Ares containing 0.003 PPM, 0.002 PPM, and 0.003 PPM respectively (Figure 11).

n-Alkane

Average summed concentrations of n-alkane were highest in the high impact site of Anchorage, reaching concentrations of 2.12 PPM (Figure 13). Four types of n-alkane were detected in large quantities in a majority of soil samples from all site locations. The maximum concentrations of all four n-alkane were detected in Anchorage: 1.52 PPM of C-16, 6.89 PPM of C-18, 5.25 PPM of C-30 and 6.66 PPM of C-36 (Figure 14).

Phthalate

No clear patterns of summed phthalate concentrations were observed across the sample sites (Figure 19). The lowest average summed concentration of 0.0006 PPM was detected in soils from Biscoe and the highest concentration was 0.002 PPM in soils from Anchorage; both sites were assumed to have high impact. Four types of phthalates were detected in total, di-butyl phthalate concentrations were detected in all site samples. Ares was the only sight with undetectable concentrations of butylated hydroxytoluene and Anchorage was the only site with undetectable levels of di-cyclohexyl phthalate (Figure 20).

Microplastic

The estimated, averaged numbers of microplastic varied across sites. In the high impact areas, Signy had an average of 1.3 microplastic per gram of soil (MP/g), Anchorage had an average of 0.53 MP/g, and Biscoe had the highest average of 2.65 MP/g. In low impact areas, Berthelot had an average of 1.21 MP/g, Jenny had an average of 0.65 MP/g, and Ares had an average of 1.4 MP/g (Figure 22).

Pollutant Relationship to Soil Properties

All persistent organic pollutants and microplastic correlation coefficient values fell below 0.70; therefore, there was no discernable relationship between soil properties and detected soil contaminants (Table 2). Four individual POPs and n-alkanes had enough non-zero values to investigate significance across the six sites. The average concentration of PCB 2, 4, 4' -trichlorobiphenyl (Figure 5) was significant across sites (p <0.045) with the difference among sites due to differences between Anchorage (no detects) and Ares (highest concentrations). Average concentrations of Anthracene (Figure 12) were also statistically significant (p <0.001), which was due to Ares concentrations being much higher than the rest of the five sites. Dibutyl phthalate was marginally significant (p = 0.037), but the post hoc Tukey test was not able to detect any significant pairwise comparisons (Figure 21). The average microplastic count (Figure 23) was also significant (p < 0.001) with Biscoe concentrations being much higher than the other five sites. Lastly, all n-alkanes were statistically significant across sample sites with varying degrees of pairwise significance (Figures 15-18). N-alkanes produced naturally in plants and other degraded organic materials may have caused the variance; however, Anchorage stood out as being different than the other sites in the majority of n-alkane pairwise comparisons.

Discussion

Overall, there were no detectable patterns of increasing contaminants and microplastic associated with sample sites that were assumed to have higher levels of direct human activity. This indicates that atmospheric deposition and other sources are likely contributors to soil contaminants detected, in addition to human activity. As the source and timing (age) of contaminant deposition are also impossible to estimate, local transport processes (e.g. by wind, erosion, biota, ice melt, etc.), complicated by varying rates of contaminant degradation, are also likely playing a role in the observed contaminant concentrations. Some specific transport mechanisms, environmental behaviors and potential toxicological impacts of detected contaminant groups are discussed here.

Polychlorinated Biphenyl (PCB)

Polychlorinated biphenyl 2,2',3,3',4,5',6,6'-octachlorobiphenyl (PCB 201) was detected in all six locations including max values at the high-impact site Biscoe (0.01 μ g/g) and the low-impact site Berthelot (0.003 μ g/g). Interestingly, no studies were found on PCB 201's potential toxicological effects on soil communities; therefore, it is unknown if there are negative effects on Antarctica's soil communities. 2,4,4'trichlorobiphenyl (PCB 28) was detected at all locations, excluding Anchorage. The maximum values of PCB 28 (\geq 0.277 PPM) at these five locations were significantly different than the maximum values of the remaining eight PCBs (≤ 0.017 PPM). Furthermore, the highest maximum concentration of PCB 28 in Ares (5.73 PPM) and Signy (2.32PPM) should prioritize studies at these locations to understand the effects on soil communities.

Soil properties and composition, combined with a PCB's properties and composition, dictate responses within soil. The loss on ignition percent implied that Signy soil had higher levels of organic matter than Ares. PCB 28 has a log K_{ow} value of 5.67 and is comprised of three chlorines attached to a biphenyl. Because of these characteristics, PCB 28 has decreased possibility of dissolution in water and an increased chance of adsorption to the soil colloidal (Henry and Divito 2003). Conversely, the presence of aqueous humic acid can promote the dissolution of PCBs in water, lowering the ability to adsorb to the soil (Adeyinka and Moodley 2019). Although more research is required, this may explain why the maximum concentration of PCB 28 is higher in Ares rather than Signy. Signy's warmer wetter climate during the austral summer enables PCB 28 to dissolve in the soil's water content and evaporate into the atmosphere where a lower half-life will quickly degrade the contaminate (Sinkkonen and Paasivirta 2000).

The high K_{ow} value could also lead to the bioaccumulation of PCB 28 in Antarctica's above-ground vegetation, which is mostly mosses and lichen (Williams et al. 2017). For example, the concentration of PCBs was higher in vegetation with a higher lipid content (Cabrerizo et al. 2012); however, the effects of the PCBs on these aboveground communities in Antarctica need further studying. To highlight the importance of research, non-native Antarctic species can take up and distribute PCB 28 throughout the plant (Teng et al. 2017). Also, PCB 28 is toxic to plants at concentrations as low as 0.2 ppm (200 μ g/L) (Wang et al 2021). Considering several samples in this study had max concentrations of PBC 28 greater than 0.2 ppm, it is imperative to study how PCB 28 physiologically affects Antarctic above-ground communities.

Antarctica's variation of extreme conditions can affect the relationships between the below-ground and above-ground soil communities (Ball et al. 2022) which could decrease or exacerbate PCBs presence and effect within soil communities. Below-ground bacterial communities in Antarctica soil have been found to contain Biphenyl dioxygenase genes, BphA, which degrades PCBs (Luz et al, 2004); however, the presence of the gene does not confirm if these communities are still able to degrade PCBs in Antarctica's harsh conditions (with temperatures below 0 °C). Antarctic bacteria found in lakes and sediments containing BphA have been found to degrade PCBs when collected and stored at 4 °C (Papale et al. 2022); therefore, with more studies testing extreme conditions, we may find these soil bacteria could in fact degrade PCBs in the cold climate.

Pesticide

In this study, the average summed concentrations were higher in low impact sites indicating that researchers in Antarctica are not the source of pesticides. Concentration levels of pesticides in the atmosphere of Antarctica have been declining (Pozo et al. 2017) which may explain why there were no detectable limits of DDT and only four types of pesticides were identified in the soil samples. Scarce information on the most abundant pesticide detected, cyclopenta[d, e, f]phenanthrene, prevented the investigation of effects within soil communities; however, hexachlorobenzene (HCB) and mirex were detected in samples and have been persistently detected within the atmosphere and biology of Antarctica (Krasnobaev et al. 2020; Ko et al. 2018; Wang et al. 2022; Khairy et al. 2016; Pozo et al. 2017).

Hexachlorobenzene (HCB) was found in all low impact sites and the high impact site Anchorage, which contained the maximum concentration. High atmospheric concentrations of HCB suggest long-range transport and atmospheric deposition are the main sources of Antarctic soil pollution (Khairy et al. 2016; Pozo et al. 2017; Wang et al. 2022). Higher concentrations of HCB have been detected in soils collected within stations suggesting there may be a local source as well (Wang et al. 2022). Similarly, Anchorage's maximum concentration may indicate a local source of HCB pollution from around the area. In the case of mirex, it has been suggested different mechanisms, other than long-range atmospheric deposition, are responsible for transporting mirex to Antarctica (Strobel et al. 2018). One possibility is that south polar skuas wintering in Asia can ingest mirex (Midthaug et al. 2022) and deposit it via guano in Antarctic soil.

There is an interesting often-overlooked detail when considering the source and transport of HCB and mirex. Most papers from Antarctica identify HCB and mirex as pesticides (Krasnobaev et al. 2020; Ko et al. 2018; Wang et al. 2022; Khairy et al. 2016; Pozo et al. 2017; Midthaug et al. 2022); however, pesticides may not be the only source of HCB and mirex. Although it was banned in 1978, mirex was also used as a flame retardant for plastics, rubber, paint, and electrical equipment (United Nations 2002). Improper disposal or weathering of these old materials can introduce more mirex into the environment. HCB can also be a byproduct of cement (Mykhailenko and Safranov 2021) and tire (Barber et al. 2005) production, thus, adding new compounds to the legacy
compounds. These two examples indicate significant gaps in knowledge that need to be considered when studying HCB and mirex within soils of Antarctica.

Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbon

Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon (PAH) originates from incompletely burnt fuels and geochemical processes; therefore, it is essential to note the possibility of geochemical contamination when studying PAHs (Szopińska 2019). The concentrations of 3-ringed PAHs and the lack of chrysene found in this study could indicate the burning of diesel fuel as a source (Stogiannidis and Laane 2015). The extreme environment of Antarctica requires the use of a particular fuel similar to diesel, An8, to withstand extreme cold, containing trace elements of fluorene (Lister et al. 2015). The 3-ringed PAHs fluorene and anthracene had detectable levels across all six research sites without detection of chrysene; therefore, the source of PAH contamination is most likely An8. Further research on An8 would be beneficial to identify other PAHs to monitor.

Airport proximity may also play a role in the levels of PAHs found in these soils. In other studies, samples collected from two airfields on King George Island contained higher PAH concentration levels when compared to soils collected near research stations (Lodygin et al. 2021; Na et al. 2020). However, the summed PAH average concentrations in Ares (1.65 ng/g) and Anchorage (0.125772 ng/g) were lower than Fildes Peninsula (155 ng/g over several seasons) (Na et al. 2020), indicating more anthropogenic activities on the Shetland Islands.

Results from this study could imply that Ares can be considered a high impact sight for PAHs. Ares is a site that is located roughly 58 km from Fossil Bluff. Fossil

Bluff is a summer season refueling point for expeditions within Antarctica. Anchorage is much closer, about 5 km, to a Rothera Station containing an airport; therefore, the samples in Anchorage should have higher concentrations than Ares. However, the average sum of PAHs was higher at Ares than at Anchorage. Differences between the airports may play a role in the unpredictable levels. Rothera Station, maintained by the United Kingdom, is operated year-round, and personnel are flown into Antarctica from the Falkland Islands or Punta Arenas, Chile. Flight distances to Rothera may make refueling and fuel storage unnecessary and fewer flights to the airfield may lower the amount of PAHs released into the environment. Refueling trends, varying types of aircraft, and duration of stay at Fossil Bluff may play a role in increased concentrations of PAHs at Ares. Fossil Bluff may have smaller craft refueling for multiple expeditions within Antarctica during the season; furthermore, as a refueling station, fuels are stored on-site possibly increasing PAHs at Ares. A toxicological risk assessment conducted by Deelaman et al. (2021) on King George found PAHs to be a low risk to soil biota; however, continued monitoring of PAHs is needed as well as identifying the risk to soil communities.

n-Alkane

In this study, detection of n-alkane was omitted initially; however, after several mass spectral analyses, n-alkane was ubiquitous in samples from all sites, especially samples from Anchorage. It is important to consider both the biological and anthropogenic production of n-alkane when calculating and analyzing samples. Although the samples were taken from bare soils, recent studies indicate that both microbial

processes and plant material can produce n-alkane (Chen et al. 2019), thus, acting as a natural source for n-alkane. Anthropogenic sources contributing to contamination levels of n-alkane include accidental spills of liquid fuel, partially burnt diesel fuels, and misguided dumping practices prior to the Madrid Protocol (Green and Nichols 1995; Goldsworthy et al. 2003; Bargagli 2008). It is suggested that cold climates can trap nalkane (Carrizo et al. 2019); however, glacial retreats caused by the warming climate could lead to Antarctica becoming a future source of n-alkane (Horrocks et al. 2020; Vega-García et al. 2021). Further studies are still imperative to fill in the knowledge gaps of n-alkane in soil.

Phthalate

This study found several phthalates in soils, with little concentration differences among sampled sites. However, it is essential to note that samples were stored in plastic zip-lock bags which could slightly increase phthalate concentrations within the samples due to leaching. Regardless, samples contained concentrations of dibutyl phthalate and di-n-octyl phthalate, both classified as priority pollutants by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) in 2014 (EPA, 2017). Collection and storage methods, coupled with random phthalate concentration trends across sites, prevent this study from using phthalates as a secondary indicator of physical plastic pollution in these sites. The phthalate source location may become even more challenging to identify because research has found that several Antarctic algal species can naturally produce dibutyl phthalate (Namikoshi et al. 2006).

More research must be done to fill significant knowledge gaps on phthalate's source and effect on Antarctic soil communities. The first phthalates in Antarctica were detected in snow at varying altitudes and in seawater (Desideri et al. 1994, 1995, 1988). More recently, phthalates have been found in phytoplankton (Duarte et al. 2021) and krill (Zhang et al. 2018); however, studies are needed to determine if trophic transfer to local bird species can lead to soil contamination. Within non-Antarctic soil communities, phthalate type determines the effect on soil structure and species. Studies on non-Antarctic soil communities suggest that dibutyl phthalate decreased nitrogen, phosphorus, and carbon levels, which stunted plant growth (Kong et al. 2018). Dibutyl phthalate changed microbial diversity and affected the fecundity and survivability of earthworms, collembolas, and nematodes (Kong et al. 2018; Jensen et al. 2001). To better understand the effects or non-effects of phthalates in Antarctica, local species should be the focus of the research. Although some phthalates can be naturally produced (Namikoshi et al. 2006), it is better to apply the precautionary principle and keep phthalates a contaminant of concern until the effects of natural and synthetic phthalates are understood.

Microplastic

Preliminary results suggest little differences among microplastic detected across the six sites, however, these results need to be interpreted with caution and require validation. The lipophilic nature of microplastic readily adsorbs Nile Red and when viewed under a fluorescent microscope, allows for the visual identification of possible microplastic. However, it appeared that there may have been other unknown material stained by the Nile Red, which would create false positives in several samples (Figure 22). These false positives, and for the reasons discussed in the phthalate section, dictate that the presence of phthalates alone cannot act as a marker for unseen or missed microplastic. Therefore, it is imperative to use secondary methods, such as Ramen spectroscopy and Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy, to verify the microplastic visually identified in this study.

The soil from Antarctica brought to light issues that can be encountered during microplastic extraction. The addition of the oil method helped to remove some of the persistence of organic matter after the hydrogen peroxide bath; however, pieces could still be seen with the naked eye. Although the filters were cleaned with Alco-jet to eliminate excess oil, there is still a possibility that the oil was stained with Nile Red as well. Finally, an unknown mineral and clay material could also possibly affect the microplastic count. These issues need to be addressed in order to perfect microplastic extraction from Antarctic soils. Furthermore, this can demonstrate methods may change depending on the physical properties of soil and the call for a standard method for microplastic count was accurate, it is important to check for microplastic when considering persistent organic pollutants in Antarctica.

Plastics have been found in specially protected areas where bird species use them as nesting material (Finger et al, 2021). These plastics can degrade to microplastic and present choking hazards, nutrient deficiency caused by false food fullness, and leaching of sorbed contaminants to the nesting birds who may mistake it as food (Puasa et al. 2021). Scat samples of several species of adult penguins contained microplastic, suggesting that there is a trophic transfer between species (Fragão et al. 2021). Trophic transfer to bird species can provide a means for the microplastic to be distributed to inland soils. Once the microplastic makes landfall, soil species could ingest the plastic. For example, collembolans collected from polystyrene shore debris ingested the material (Bergami et al. 2020). Although collected from the shore, this could imply that other species of collembola located further inland can ingest microplastic.

Biofilms located on plastic debris need to be investigated as well. Although found on oceanic pieces of plastic, different prokaryotic and fungal communities (Cappello 2021, Lacerda 2020) were found on varying plastics, which could provide the means of transport through Antarctica, causing shifts in soil communities by introducing invasive or novel species. Bacterial colonies with antibiotic resistance have been found on plastic from King George Island which may or may not be a concern (Laganà 2019). There is evidence of the presence of microplastic in Antarctica now studies need to fill the gap on how the physical presence of microplastic can affect soil communities.

Conclusion

In conclusion, this study showed that regardless of a site being influenced by an assumed high or low human impact, there are no clear patterns dictating the concentration of persistent organic pollutants. For instance, in assumed high impact sites, Anchorage had the highest concentration of n-alkanes; however, Bisoce had the lowest concentration of phthalates and the highest microplastic count. Comparatively across all six sites, the assumed lowest human impact area, Ares, contained the highest concentrations of polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), pesticides, and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH).

32

Specific concentrations of persistent organic pollutants were inconsistent with other studies. The concentrations of PCBs and phthalates in soil samples were higher in this study than in others (Klánová et al. 2008; Wang P. et al. 2012; Corsolini et al. 2019; Desideri et al. 1994, 1995, 1988). PAHs and n-alkanes were detected in lower concentrations than in other Antarctic soil studies (Rodríguezn et al. 2018). It is difficult to compare the microplastic count of this study with the one other study (Perfetti-Bolaño et al. 2022) for several reasons. The main reason was that in this study the hypothesis that phthalate could act as a secondary indicator of microplastic had to be rejected, and there was no secondary confirmation with Raman or Fourier-transform infrared spectroscopy. Perfetti-Bolaño et al. (2022) used a different definition for microplastic, used other extraction techniques, and did a visual count without using Nile red. Finally, the measurement used by Perfetti-Bolaño et al. (2022) was recorded as "particles/ 50ml," which makes comparison with the current study of "particles/ gram soil" difficult.

Determining a contaminants source, transport mechanism, and time within the soil presents its own challenges. Contaminations are not equally distributed across any given area; therefore, a sample with no pollutants could have been collected feet away from a highly contaminated soil patch. Variance in the time a contaminant enters the atmosphere, how long it has been exposed to degradation factors, and the potential to accumulate makes it challenging to distinguish when the contaminant first arrived in the soil. In this study, these conditions make it impossible to determine the sources of the pollutant; however, long-range atmospheric transport, local point sources, or biological transport cannot be ruled out. Regardless of a contaminant's source and deposition time, the toxicological effects on Antarctic soil ecology are still unknown and must be studied for a better understanding of persistent organic pollutants within the Antarctic environment.

CHAPTER 3

NEXT STEPS

The realization that persistent organic pollutants are understudied within soil research is a consistent theme throughout the literature. Standardizations would be key for collecting comprehensive data suitable to obtain an understanding of how these pollutants influence Earth's soil in the past, present, and future. First, there is a need for a clear definition of microplastic, many papers tend to mention the problem without many solutions. Hartmann et al. (2019) addressed the issue and presented their solutions for a clear definition of microplastic. Currently, eight hundred and sixty-one have referenced this work (Hartmann et al. 2019); however, studies still use varying definitions with a call for a standardized definition of microplastic. I purpose that we use the microplastic definition of Hartmann et al. (2019) to resolve the issue instead of continually stating an issue.

Microplastic separation from soil is a difficult task, and there have been calls for standardization of extraction methods. These calls may seem warranted and ideal to achieve similar and repeatable results; however, in practice, standardization can be impractical. Soil's heterogeneous nature may make one extraction method great for one soil, yet, be inefficient with another. For example, this study used a combination of two extraction methods because the first failed to fully separate the microplastic from the sample. Microplastic separation is time-consuming, frustrating, and should be improved. Instead of standardizing lab methods, emphasis should be placed on finding cheaper, quicker, and more efficient extraction methods.

34

Most persistent organic pollutants (POPs) within Antarctic soil identify the occurrence and transport of pollutants. While identifying the source and amount of pollutants is important, little is known about the resulting effects imposed on soil communities. Degradation rates vary between all POPs and the extreme environmental conditions of Antarctica could increase the amount of time that they remain in the soil. It is important to address how these pollutants degrade in extreme temperatures to better understand the amount of time that they pose a risk to the soil community. Understanding the soil-pollutant relationship would aid in creating ideal dosing experiments to explore the effects of the pollutant on the surrounding soil biota. Antarctica's simplistic environment may be able to shed light on how pollutants affect the whole soil system and not just one piece. In turn, this information can be used as baseline data when studying other ecosystems helping us to identify issues caused by global pollution.



Numeral Designator	Location Name	Latitude	Human Impact
1	Signy Island	60.7	High
2	Anchorage Island	67.6	High
3	Biscoe Point	64.8	High
4	Berthelot Island	65.3	Low
5	Jenny Island	67.7	Low
6	Ares Oasis	71.8	Low

Figure 1: Site locations adapted from Perteirra et al. (2017) and the British Antarctic Survey.

Table 1

Site Soil Properties

		Soil Properties				
Site	LOI	На	EC	SWC		
		F				
	9.40 ±	$4.87\pm$	$28.67\pm$	$21.92 \pm$		
Signy	4.2	0.38	11	2.7		
	$14.10 \pm$	$4.00 \pm$	$34.80\pm$	$56.17\pm$		
Anchorage	7.5	0.74	21	34		
	$2.92 \pm$	$6.29 \pm$	$23.07 \pm$	$7.67 \pm$		
Biscoe	1.9	0.99	11	4.6		
	$8.87 \pm$	$5.37 \pm$	$50.70 \pm$	$54.22 \pm$		
Berthelot	1.5	0.38	20	12		
	$9.07 \pm$	$4.27 \pm$	$33.19 \pm$	$30.11 \pm$		
Jenny	4.1	0.72	18	12		
-						
	$1.98 \pm$	$7.71 \pm$	$45.68 \pm$	$13.61 \pm$		
Ares	0.53	0.56	11	3.9		

Table 1: Average soil properties of sample sights with standard deviation in parenthesis. LOI is the percent of organic material lost on ignition. EC is electric conductivity and measured in siemens, and SWC is soil water content calculated in (Θ) .



Figure 2: The average summed concentrations and standard deviations of polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) within each sample site. Sites are listed in order of decreasing human impact. The number PCBs detected is represented by (n).



Figure 3: Maximum concentrations for 8 of 9 polychlorinated biphenyls found in each site



Figure 4: Maximum value for 2, 4, 4'-Trichlorobiphenoy (1 of 9 PCBs). Figure 4 is separate from Figure 3 because of the magnitude difference in maximum values. The greatest maximum value is at site Ares (5.73 PPM).



Figure 5: The ANOVA one-way test value is represented by (p). The post hoc Tukey test identified pairwise differences in 2, 4, 4'-trichlorobiphenyl concentrations between Ares and Anchorage. ND=no detectable value.



Figure 6: The average summed concentrations and standard deviations of pesticides within each sample site. Sites are listed in order of decreasing human impact. The number of the four pesticides detected is represented by (n).



Figure 7: Maximum concentrations for 4 of 4 pesticides found in samples from each soil site.



Figure 8: Maximum concentrations for 4 of 4 pesticides found in each soil site with Ares concentration of 4H-Cyclopenta[def]phenanthrene (0.063 PPM) excluded as an outlier.



Figure 9: The average summed concentrations and standard deviations of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH) within each sample site. Sites are listed in order of decreasing human impact. The number PAHs detected is represented by (n).



Figure 10: Maximum concentrations for 7 of 9 polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) found in samples from each soil site.



Figure 11: Maximum value of anthracene and fluorene (2 of 9 PAHs) These 3-ringed polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons can be ideal markers for the detection of PAHs coming from anthropogenic sources i.e. burning of fossil fuels.



Figure 12: The ANOVA one-way test value is represented by (p). The post hoc Tukey test identified pairwise differences in anthracene contamination between Ares and all the other sites.



Figure 13: The average summed concentrations and standard deviations of n-alkane within each sample site. Sites are listed in order of decreasing human impact. The number of n-alkane detected is represented by (n).



Figure 14: Maximum concentrations for 4 of 4 n-alkane found in samples from each soil site.



Figure 15: The ANOVA one-way test value is represented by (p). The post hoc Tukey test identified pairwise differences in C-16 contamination between sites (Signy -Ares), (Anchorage- Berthelot), (Biscoe-Ares), (Berthelot-Ares), and (Jenny-Ares).



Figure 16: The ANOVA one-way test value is represented by (p). The post hoc Tukey test identified pairwise differences in C-18 contamination between Anchorage and all the other sites.



Figure 17: The ANOVA one-way test value is represented by (p). The post hoc Tukey test identified pairwise differences in C-30 contamination between sites (Signy-Anchorage), (Anchorage-Biscoe), (Anchorage-Berthelot), (Anchorage-Ares), (Biscoe-Jenny) and (Jenny-Ares).



Figure 18: The ANOVA one-way test value is represented by (p). The post hoc Tukey test identified p pairwise differences in C-36 contamination between sites Anchorage and all the other sites.



Figure 19: The average summed concentrations and standard deviations of phthalates within each sample site. Sites are listed in order of decreasing human impact. The number of the four phthalates detected is represented by (n).



Figure 20: Maximum concentrations for 4 of 4 phthalates found in samples from each soil site. BHT is butylated hydroxytoluene.



Figure 21: The ANOVA one-way test was marginally significant, but the post hoc Tukey test was not able to detect any significant pairwise comparisons.



Figure 22: A sites average microplastic per gram of soil and standard deviations. Sites are listed in decreasing human impact.



Figure 23: The ANOVA one-way test value is represented by (p). The post hoc Tukey test identified pairwise differences in microplastic count between sites Biscoe and all the other sites.

Table 2

Correlation Coefficient Values

Contaminant	Soil Properties				
	LOI	pН	EC	SWC	
РСВ	0.05	0.15	0.05	0.05	
Pesticide	0.04	0.15	0.03	0.01	
РАН	0.1	0.25	0.2	0.09	
n-Alkane	0.51	0.32	0.03	0.36	
РНТН	0.12	0.13	0.04	0.2	
MP	0.21	0.15	0.02	0.16	

Table 2: Correlation Coefficient values (\mathbb{R}^2) of soil contamination and properties. LOI is the percent of organic material lost on ignition. EC is electric conductivity and measured in siemens and SWC is soil water content measured in (Θ).



Figure 24: Comparison of possible pieces of microplastic with (A) and without (B) background noise, justifying the need for Raman or Fourier-transform infrared spectroscopy.

REFERENCES

- 1. (COMNAP) Council of Managers of National Antarctic Programs. 2017. Antarctic Station Catalogue. ISBN 978-0-473-40409-3
- Absher, T.M., Ferreira, S.L., Kern, Y., Ferreira, A.L., Christo, S.W. and Ando, R.A., 2019. Incidence and identification of microfibers in ocean waters in Admiralty Bay, Antarctica. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 26(1), pp.292-298.
- 3. Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR). 2020. Toxicological profile for Mirex and Chlordecone. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service.
- 4. Adeyinka, G.C. and Moodley, B. 2019. Effect of aqueous concentration of humic acid on the sorption of polychlorinated biphenyls onto soil particle grain sizes. Journal of Soils and Sediments, 19(3), pp.1543-1553.
- 5. Anh, H.Q. Watanabe, I. Minh, T.B. and Takahashi, S. 2021. Unintentionally produced polychlorinated biphenyls in pigments: an updated review on their formation, emission sources, contamination status, and toxic effects. Science of The Total Environment, 755, p.142504.
- Ball, B.A. Convey, P. Feeser, K.L. Nielsen, U.N. and Van Horn, D.J. 2022. Environmental harshness mediates the relationship between aboveground and belowground communities in Antarctica. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 164, p.108493.
- Baloyi, N.D., Tekere, M., Maphangwa, K.W. and Masindi, V., 2021. Insights into the prevalence and impacts of phthalate esters in aquatic ecosystems. Front. Environ. Sci, 9, p.684190.
- Barber, J.L. Sweetman, A.J. Van Wijk, D. and Jones, K.C. 2005. Hexachlorobenzene in the global environment: emissions, levels, distribution, trends and processes. Science of the total environment, 349(1-3), pp.1-44.
- 9. Bargagli, R., 2008. Environmental contamination in Antarctic ecosystems. Science of the total environment, 400(1-3), pp.212-226.
- Bergami, E. Rota, E. Caruso, T. Birarda, G. Vaccari, L. and Corsi, I. 2020. Plastics everywhere: first evidence of polystyrene fragments inside the common Antarctic collembolan Cryptopygus antarcticus. Biology letters, 16(6), p.20200093.

- Bessa, F., Ratcliffe, N., Otero, V., Sobral, P., Marques, J.C., Waluda, C.M., Trathan, P.N. and Xavier, J.C., 2019. Microplastics in gentoo penguins from the Antarctic region. Scientific reports, 9(1), pp.1-7.
- Bhardwaj, L., Chauhan, A., Ranjan, A. and Jindal, T., 2018. Persistent organic pollutants in biotic and abiotic components of Antarctic pristine environment. Earth Systems and Environment, 2(1), pp.35-54.
- Boer J. 2005. Polychlorinated Biphenyls. Encyclopedia of Analytical Science Second Edition, Elsevier Science, 214-225. ISBN 978-0-12-369397-6
- Bogdal, C. Schmid, P. Zennegg, M. Anselmetti, F.S. Scheringer, M. and Hungerbühler, K. 2009. Blast from the past: melting glaciers as a relevant source for persistent organic pollutants. Environmental science & technology, 43(21), pp.8173-8177.
- Borrelle, S.B., Ringma, J., Law, K.L., Monnahan, C.C., Lebreton, L., McGivern, A., Murphy, E., Jambeck, J., Leonard, G.H., Hilleary, M.A, Eriksen, M., et al. 2020. Predicted growth in plastic waste exceeds efforts to mitigate plastic pollution. Science, 369(6510), pp.1515-1518.
- 16. British Antarctic Survey. Updated May 2021. Antarctic Digital Database (ADD). SCAGI, the SCAR Standing Committee on Geographic Information. Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International (CC BY 4.0) License. Accessed on May 2022 through: https://www.scar.org/resources/antarctic-digital-database/
- Brooks, S.T., Jabour, J., Van Den Hoff, J. and Bergstrom, D.M., 2019. Our footprint on Antarctica competes with nature for rare ice-free land. Nature Sustainability, 2(3), pp.185-190.
- Cabrerizo, A. Dachs, J. Barceló, D. and Jones, K.C. 2012. Influence of organic matter content and human activities on the occurrence of organic pollutants in Antarctic soils, lichens, grass, and mosses. Environmental Science & Technology, 46(3), pp.1396-1405.
- Cajiao, D. Albertos, B. Tejedo, P. Muñoz-Puelles, L. Garilleti, R. Lara, F. Sancho, L.G. Tirira, D.G. Simón-Baile, D. Reck, G.K. and Olave, C. 2020. Assessing the conservation values and tourism threats in Barrientos Island, Antarctic Peninsula. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 266, p.110593.
- Cappello, S. Caruso, G. Bergami, E. Macrì, A. Venuti, V. Majolino, D. and Corsi, I. 2021. New insights into the structure and function of the prokaryotic communities colonizing plastic debris collected in King George Island

(Antarctica): Preliminary observations from two plastic fragments. Journal of Hazardous Materials, 414, p.125586.

- 21. Carrizo, D., Sánchez-García, L., Menes, R.J. and García-Rodríguez, F., 2019. Discriminating sources and preservation of organic matter in surface sediments from five Antarctic lakes in the Fildes Peninsula (King George Island) by lipid biomarkers and compound-specific isotopic analysis. Science of The Total Environment, 672, pp.657-668.
- Caruso, G. Bergami, E. Singh, N. and Corsi, I. 2022. Plastic occurrence, sources, and impacts in Antarctic environment and biota. *Water Biology and Security*, p.100034.
- Casal, P. Casas, G. Vila-Costa, M. Cabrerizo, A. Pizarro, M. Jimenez, B. and Dachs, J. 2019. Snow amplification of persistent organic pollutants at coastal Antarctica. Environmental Science & Technology, 53(15), pp.8872-8882.
- Casas, G. Martinez-Varela, A. Vila-Costa, M. Jiménez, B. and Dachs, J. 2021. Rain Amplification of Persistent Organic Pollutants. Environmental science & technology, 55(19), pp.12961-12972.
- 25. CCAMLR Secretariat, 2020. Fishery Report 2020: Euphausia superba in Area 48. Commission for the Conservation of Antarctic Marine Living Resources. https://fishdocs.ccamlr.org/FishRep_48_KRI_2020.pdf (Accessed April 2022)
- Chen, X., Liu, X., Wei, Y. and Huang, Y., 2019. Production of long-chain n-alkyl lipids by heterotrophic microbes: new evidence from Antarctic lakes. Organic Geochemistry, 138, p.103909.
- 27. Choi, S.D. Baek, S.Y. Chang, Y.S. Wania, F. Ikonomou, M.G. Yoon, Y.J. Park, B.K. and Hong, S. 2008. Passive air sampling of polychlorinated biphenyls and organochlorine pesticides at the Korean Arctic and Antarctic research stations: implications for long-range transport and local pollution. Environmental science & technology, 42(19), pp.7125-7131.
- Cincinelli, A., Scopetani, C., Chelazzi, D., Lombardini, E., Martellini, T., Katsoyiannis, A., Fossi, M.C. and Corsolini, S., 2017. Microplastic in the surface waters of the Ross Sea (Antarctica): occurrence, distribution and characterization by FTIR. Chemosphere, 175, pp.391-400.
- 29. Constable, A.J. 2011. Lessons from CCAMLR on the implementation of the ecosystem approach to managing fisheries. Fish and Fisheries 12: 138–151.
- Cordero, R.R., Sepúlveda, E., Feron, S., Damiani, A., Fernandoy, F., Neshyba, S., Rowe, P.M., Asencio, V., Carrasco, J., Alfonso, J.A. and Llanillo, P., 2022. Black

carbon footprint of human presence in Antarctica. Nature communications, 13(1), pp.1-11.

- 31. Dawson, A.L. Kawaguchi, S. King, C.K. Townsend, K.A. King, R. Huston, W.M. and Bengtson Nash, S.M. 2018. Turning microplastics into nanoplastics through digestive fragmentation by Antarctic krill. Nature communications, 9(1), pp.1-8.
- 32. Day, D. (2013) Antarctica: A Biography. Oxford University Press, Incorporated, Cary. Available from: ProQuest Ebook Central [April 2022].
- 33. Deelaman, W. Pongpiachan, S. Tipmanee, D. Choochuay, C. Suttinun, O. Charoenkalunyuta, T. and Promdee, K. 2021. Ecotoxicological risk and health risk characterization of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in terrestrial soils of King George Island, Antarctica. Polar Science, 29, p.100715.
- Desideri, P.G. Lepri, L. Checchini, L. and Santianni, D. 1994. Organic compounds in surface and deep Antarctic snow. International journal of environmental analytical chemistry, 55(1-4), pp.33-46
- Desideri, P.G. Lepri, L. Checchini, L. Santianni, D. Masi, F. and Bao, M. 1995. Organic compounds in Antarctic sea-water and pack-ice. International Journal of Environmental Analytical Chemistry, 61(4), pp.319-330.
- Desideri, P.G. Lepri, L. Udisti, R. Checchini, L. Bubba, M.D. Cini, R. and Stortini, A.M. 1998. Analysis of organic compounds in Antarctic snow and their origin. International journal of environmental analytical chemistry, 71(3-4), pp.331-351.
- 37. Duarte, B. Gameiro, C. Matos, A.R. Figueiredo, A. Silva, M.S. Cordeiro, C. Caçador, I. Reis-Santos, P. Fonseca, V. and Cabrita, M.T. 2021. First screening of biocides, persistent organic pollutants, pharmaceutical and personal care products in Antarctic phytoplankton from Deception Island by FT-ICR-MS. Chemosphere, 274, p.129860.
- 38. Evangeliou, N. Grythe, H. Klimont, Z. Heyes, C. Eckhardt, S. Lopez-Aparicio, S. and Stohl, A. 2020. Atmospheric transport is a major pathway of microplastics to remote regions. Nature communications, 11(1), pp.1-11.
- Finger, J.V.G. Corá, D.H. Convey, P. Santa Cruz, F. Petry, M.V. and Krüger, L. 2021. Anthropogenic debris in an Antarctic Specially Protected Area in the maritime Antarctic. Marine Pollution Bulletin, 172, p.112921.

- Fragão, J.; Bessa, F.; Otero, V.; Barbosa, A.; Sobral, P.; Waluda, C.M.; Guímaro, H.R.; Xavier, J.C. Microplastics and other anthropogenic particles in Antarctica: Using penguins as biological samplers. Sci. Total Environ. 2021, 788, 147698.
- 41. Fu, J. Fu, K. Gao, K. Li, H. Xue, Q. Chen, Y. Wang, L. Shi, J. Fu, J. Zhang, Q. and Zhang, A. 2020. Occurrence and trophic magnification of organophosphate esters in an Antarctic ecosystem: insights into the shift from legacy to emerging pollutants. Journal of hazardous materials, 396, p.122742.
- 42. Giannarelli, S. Onor, M. Abete, C. Termine, M. and Fuoco, R. 2019. Effect of altitude and distance from the sea on fractionation processes of Persistent Organic Pollutants (POPs) associated to atmospheric aerosol from Ross Sea to Dome C, Antarctica. Microchemical Journal, 149, p.103911.
- 43. Giuliani, A., Zuccarini, M., Cichelli, A., Khan, H. and Reale, M., 2020. Critical review on the presence of phthalates in food and evidence of their biological impact. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 17(16), p.5655.
- 44. Goldsworthy, P.M., Canning, E.A. and Riddle, M.J., 2003. Soil and water contamination in the Larsemann Hills, East Antarctica. Polar Record, 39(4), pp.319-337.
- 45. González-Pleiter, M., Edo, C., Velázquez, D., Casero-Chamorro, M.C., Leganés, F., Quesada, A., Fernández-Piñas, F. and Rosal, R., 2020. First detection of microplastics in the freshwater of an Antarctic Specially Protected Area. Marine Pollution Bulletin, 161, p.111811.
- 46. Green, G. and Nichols, P.D., 1995. Hydrocarbons and sterols in marine sediments and soils at Davis Station, Antarctica: a survey for human-derived contaminants. Antarctic Science, 7(2), pp.137-144.
- 47. Grochowalski, A. and Konieczyński, J. 2008. PCDDs/PCDFs, dl-PCBs and HCB in the flue gas from coal fired CFB boilers. Chemosphere, 73(1), pp.97-103.
- Gröndahl, F., Sidenmark, J. and Thomsen1, A., 2009. Survey of waste water disposal practices at Antarctic research stations. Polar Research, 28(2), pp.298-306.
- 49. Hartmann, N.B. Huffer, T. Thompson, R.C. Hassellöv, M. Verschoor, A. Daugaard, A.E. Rist, S. Karlsson, T. Brennholt, N. Cole, M. and Herrling, M.P. 2019. Are we speaking the same language? Recommendations for a definition and categorization framework for plastic debris. Environmental Science & Technology 2019 53 (3), 1039-1047

- 50. Henry, T.R. and DeVito, M.J. 2003. Non-dioxin-like PCBs: effects and consideration in ecological risk assessment. Washington, DC: Ecological Risk Assessment Support Center, Office of Research and Development, US Environmental Protection Agency.
- Herrera, A., Garrido-Amador, P., Martínez, I., Samper, M.D., López-Martínez, J., Gómez, M. and Packard, T.T., 2018. Novel methodology to isolate microplastics from vegetal-rich samples. Marine pollution bulletin, 129(1), pp.61-69.
- Horrocks, C.A., Newsham, K.K., Cox, F., Garnett, M.H., Robinson, C.H. and Dungait, J.A.J., 2020. Predicting climate change impacts on maritime Antarctic soils: a space-for-time substitution study. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 141, p.107682.
- 53. Huang, D. Tao, J. Cheng, M. Deng, R. Chen, S. Yin, L. and Li, R. 2021. Microplastics and nanoplastics in the environment: Macroscopic transport and effects on creatures. Journal of hazardous materials, 407, p.124399.
- 54. International Association of Antarctica Tour Operators (IAATO). 2021. IAATO Overview of Antarctic Tourism: A Historical Review of Growth, the 2020-21 Season, and Preliminary Estimates for 2021-22. ATCM XLIII - CEP XXIII Paris, France, Agenda Item: ATCM 17
- 55. Isla, E. Pérez-Albaladejo, E. and Porte, C. 2018. Toxic anthropogenic signature in Antarctic continental shelf and deep sea sediments. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), pp.1-7.
- Isobe, A., Uchiyama-Matsumoto, K., Uchida, K. and Tokai, T., 2017. Microplastics in the southern ocean. Marine pollution bulletin, 114(1), pp.623-626.
- Jabour, J., 2009. National Antarctic programs and their impact on the environment. In Health of Antarctic Wildlife (pp. 211-229). Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- 58. Jensen, J. van Langevelde, J. Pritzl, G. and Krogh, P.H. 2001. Effects of di (2ethylhexyl) phthalate and dibutyl phthalate on the collembolan Folsomia fimetaria. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry: An International Journal, 20(5), pp.1085-1091.
- 59. Kariminia, S. Ahmad, S.S. Hashim, R. and Ismail, Z. 2013. Environmental consequences of Antarctic tourism from a global perspective. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *105*, pp.781-791.

- 60. Khan, A.L., Klein, A.G., Katich, J.M. and Xian, P., 2019. Local emissions and regional wildfires influence refractory black carbon observations near Palmer Station, Antarctica. Frontiers in Earth Science, 7, p.49.
- 61. Kim, D. Cui, R. Moon, J. Kwak, J.I. and An, Y.J. 2019. Soil ecotoxicity study of DEHP with respect to multiple soil species. Chemosphere, 216, pp.387-395.
- 62. Kim, J.T. Choi, Y.J. Barghi, M. Kim, J.H. Jung, J.W. Kim, K. Kang, J.H. Lammel, G. and Chang, Y.S. 2021. Occurrence, distribution, and bioaccumulation of new and legacy persistent organic pollutants in an ecosystem on King George Island, maritime Antarctica. Journal of Hazardous Materials, 405, p.124141. doi: doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2020.124141
- 63. Ko, F.C., Pan, W.L., Cheng, J.O., Chen, T.H., Kuo, F.W., Kao, S.J., Chang, C.W., Ho, H.C., Wang, W.H. and Fang, L.S., 2018. Persistent organic pollutants in Antarctic notothenioid fish and invertebrates associated with trophic levels. Plos one, 13(4), p.e0194147.
- 64. Kong, X. Jin, D. Jin, S. Wang, Z. Yin, H. Xu, M. and Deng, Y. 2018. Responses of bacterial community to dibutyl phthalate pollution in a soil-vegetable ecosystem. Journal of hazardous materials, 353, pp.142-150.
- 65. Krasnobaev, A., Ten Dam, G., Boerrigter-Eenling, R., Peng, F., van Leeuwen, S.P., Morley, S.A., Peck, L.S. and Van Den Brink, N.W., 2020. Legacy and emerging persistent organic pollutants in Antarctic benthic invertebrates near Rothera Point, Western Antarctic Peninsula. Environmental science & technology, 54(5), pp.2763-2771
- 66. Lacerda, A.L.D.F. Proietti, M.C. Secchi, E.R. and Taylor, J.D. 2020. Diverse groups of fungi are associated with plastics in the surface waters of the Western South Atlantic and the Antarctic Peninsula. Molecular Ecology, 29(10), pp.1903-1918.
- 67. Laganà, P. Caruso, G. Corsi, I. Bergami, E. Venuti, V. Majolino, D. La Ferla, R. Azzaro, M. and Cappello, S. 2019. Do plastics serve as a possible vector for the spread of antibiotic resistance? First insights from bacteria associated to a polystyrene piece from King George Island (Antarctica). International journal of hygiene and environmental health, 222(1), pp.89-100.
- 68. Lebreton, L. and Andrady, A., 2019. Future scenarios of global plastic waste generation and disposal. Palgrave Communications, 5(1), pp.1-11.
- 69. Lechthaler, S., Hildebrandt, L., Stauch, G. and Schüttrumpf, H., 2020. Canola oil extraction in conjunction with a plastic free separation unit optimises

microplastics monitoring in water and sediment. Analytical Methods, 12(42), pp.5128-5139.

- 70. Lister, K.N. Lamare, M.D. and Burritt, D.J. 2015. Pollutant resilience in embryos of the Antarctic sea urchin Sterechinus neumayeri reflects maternal antioxidant status. Aquatic Toxicology, 161, pp.61-72.
- Lodygin, E.; Abakumov, E.; Nizamutdinov, T. The Content of Polyarenes in Soils of Antarctica: Variability across Landscapes. Land 2021, 10, 1162.
- 72. Lowther, A.D., Staniland, I., Lydersen, C. and Kovacs, K.M., 2020. Male Antarctic fur seals: neglected food competitors of bioindicator species in the context of an increasing Antarctic krill fishery. Scientific reports, 10(1), pp.1-12.
- Luz, A.P. Pellizari, V.H. Whyte, L.G. and Greer, C.W. 2004. A survey of indigenous microbial hydrocarbon degradation genes in soils from Antarctica and Brazil. Canadian journal of microbiology, 50(5), pp.323-333.
- 74. Ma, J. Hung, H. and Macdonald, R.W. 2016. The influence of global climate change on the environmental fate of persistent organic pollutants: A review with emphasis on the Northern Hemisphere and the Arctic as a receptor. Global and Planetary Change, 146, pp.89-108.
- Maes, T., Jessop, R., Wellner, N., Haupt, K. and Mayes, A.G., 2017. A rapidscreening approach to detect and quantify microplastics based on fluorescent tagging with Nile Red. Scientific reports, 7(1), pp.1-10.
- 76. Marina-Montes, C., Pérez-Arribas, L.V., Anzano, J., de Vallejuelo, S.F.O., Aramendia, J., Gómez-Nubla, L., de Diego, A., Madariaga, J.M. and Cáceres, J.O., 2022. Characterization of atmospheric aerosols in the Antarctic region using Raman Spectroscopy and Scanning Electron Microscopy. Spectrochimica Acta Part A: Molecular and Biomolecular Spectroscopy, 266, p.120452.
- 77. Meador, J.P., 2010. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. In Ecotoxicology (pp. 314-323). Academic Press.
- Midthaug, H.K., Hitchcock, D.J., Bustnes, J.O., Polder, A., Descamps, S., Tarroux, A., Soininen, E.M. and Borgå, K., 2021. Within and between breedingseason changes in contaminant occurrence and body condition in the Antarctic breeding south polar skua. *Environmental Pollution*, 284, p.117434.
- 79. Möller, A. Sturm, R. Xie, Z. Cai, M. He, J. and Ebinghaus, R. 2012. Organophosphorus flame retardants and plasticizers in airborne particles over the Northern Pacific and Indian Ocean toward the polar regions: Evidence for global occurrence. Environmental science & technology, 46(6), pp.3127-3134.

- Munari, C., Infantini, V., Scoponi, M., Rastelli, E., Corinaldesi, C. and Mistri, M., 2017. Microplastics in the sediments of terra nova bay (ross sea, Antarctica). Marine pollution bulletin, 122(1-2), pp.161-165.
- Mykhailenko, V.I. and Safranov, T.A. 2021. Estimation of Input of Unintentionally Produced Persistent Organic Pollutants into the Air Basin of the Odessa Industrial-and-Urban Agglomeration. Journal of Ecological Engineering, 22(9).
- 82. Na, G., Gao, Y., Li, R., Gao, H., Hou, C., Ye, J., Jin, S. and Zhang, Z., 2020. Occurrence and sources of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in atmosphere and soil from 2013 to 2019 in the Fildes Peninsula, Antarctica. Marine Pollution Bulletin, 156, p.111173.
- Namikoshi, M. Fujiwara, T. Nishikawa, T. and Ukai, K. 2006. Natural abundance 14C content of dibutyl phthalate (DBP) from three marine algae. Marine drugs, 4(4), pp.290-297.
- 84. Nash, S.B. 2011. Persistent organic pollutants in Antarctica: current and future research priorities. Journal of Environmental Monitoring, 13(3), pp.497-504.
- 85. Nel, H.A., Chetwynd, A.J., Kelleher, L., Lynch, I., Mansfield, I., Margenat, H., Onoja, S., Oppenheimer, P.G., Smith, G.H.S. and Krause, S., 2021. Detection limits are central to improve reporting standards when using Nile red for microplastic quantification. Chemosphere, 263, p.127953.
- Net, S. Sempere, R. Delmont, A. Paluselli, A. and Ouddane, B. 2015. Occurrence, fate, behavior and ecotoxicological state of phthalates in different environmental matrices. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 49(7), pp.4019-4035.
- Net, S., El-Osmani, R., Prygiel, E., Rabodonirina, S., Dumoulin, D. and Ouddane, B., 2015. Overview of persistent organic pollution (PAHs, Me-PAHs and PCBs) in freshwater sediments from Northern France. Journal of Geochemical Exploration, 148, pp.181-188.
- Papale, M. Lo Giudice, A. Rappazzo, A.C. Azzaro, M. and Rizzo, C. 2022. A First Glimpse on Cold-Adapted PCB-Oxidizing Bacteria in Edmonson Point Lakes (Northern Victoria Land, Antarctica). Water, 14(1), p.109.
- Perfetti-Bolaño, A., Araneda, A., Muñoz, K. and Barra, R.O., 2022. Occurrence and Distribution of Microplastics in Soils and Intertidal Sediments at Fildes Bay, Maritime Antarctica. Frontiers in Marine Science.

- 90. Pertierra, L.R. Hughes, K.A. Vega, G.C. and Olalla-Tárraga, M.Á. 2017. High resolution spatial mapping of human footprint across Antarctica and its implications for the strategic conservation of avifauna. PloS one, 12(1), p.e0168280.
- Petersen, F. and Hubbart, J.A. 2021. The occurrence and transport of microplastics: The state of the science. Science of the Total Environment, 758, p.143936.
- 92. Pfohl, P., Roth, C., Meyer, L., Heinemeyer, U., Gruendling, T., Lang, C., Nestle, N., Hofmann, T., Wohlleben, W. and Jessl, S., 2021. Microplastic extraction protocols can impact the polymer structure. Microplastics and Nanoplastics, 1(1), pp.1-13.
- 93. Plastics Europe (2017) Plastics—The facts. Plastic Europe. https://www.plasticseurope.org/en/resources/publications/274-plastics-facts-2017. Accessed 01 May 2022
- 94. Polidoro, B., Comeros-Raynal, M.T., Cahill, T. and Clement, C., 2017. Landbased sources of marine pollution: Pesticides, PAHs and phthalates in coastal stream water, and heavy metals in coastal stream sediments in American Samoa. *Marine pollution bulletin*, 116(1-2), pp.501-507.
- 95. Polidoro, B. Lewis, T. and Clement, C. 2022. A screening-level human health risk assessment for microplastics and organic contaminants in near-shore marine environments in American Samoa. *Heliyon*, *8*(3), p.e09101.
- 96. Potapowicz, J. Szumińska, D. Szopińska, M. and Polkowska, Ż. 2019. The influence of global climate change on the environmental fate of anthropogenic pollution released from the permafrost: Part I. Case study of Antarctica. Science of the Total Environment, 651, pp.1534-1548.
- 97. Pozo, K. Martellini, T. Corsolini, S. Harner, T. Estellano, V. Kukučka, P. Mulder, M.D. Lammel, G. and Cincinelli, A. 2017. Persistent organic pollutants (POPs) in the atmosphere of coastal areas of the Ross Sea, Antarctica: Indications for longterm downward trends. Chemosphere, 178, pp.458-465.
- 98. Puasa, N.A. Zulkharnain, A. Verasoundarapandian, G. Wong, C.Y. Zahri, K.N.M. Merican, F. Shaharuddin, N.A. Gomez-Fuentes, C. and Ahmad, S.A. 2021. Effects of diesel, heavy metals and plastics pollution on penguins in antarctica: A review. *Animals*, 11(9), p.2505.

- 99. R. Fuoco, S. Giannarelli, M. Onor, S. Ghimenti, C. Abete, M. Termine, S. Francesconi. A snow/firn four-century record of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) and polychlorobiphenyls (PCBs) at talos dome (Antarctica) Microchemical J. 105 (2012), pp. 133-141, 10.1016/j.microc.2012.05.018
- Reed, S., Clark, M., Thompson, R. and Hughes, K.A., 2018. Microplastics in marine sediments near Rothera research station, Antarctica. Marine pollution bulletin, 133, pp.460-463.
- 101. Roblin, B. and Aherne, J., 2020. Moss as a biomonitor for the atmospheric deposition of anthropogenic microfibres. Science of The Total Environment, 715, p.136973.
- 102. Rodríguez, C., Iglesias, K., Bícego, M.C., Taniguchi, S., Sasaki, S.T., Kandratavicius, N., Bueno, C., Brugnoli, E. and Venturini, N., 2018. Hydrocarbons in soil and meltwater stream sediments near Artigas Antarctic Research Station: origin, sources and levels. Antarctic Science, 30(3), pp.170-182.
- 103. Rozman, U. and Kalčíková, G. 2022. Seeking for a perfect (non-spherical) microplastic particle–The most comprehensive review on microplastic laboratory research. Journal of Hazardous Materials, 424, p.127529.
- 104. Secretariat of the Antarctic Treaty. Available from: https://www.ats.aq/e/mediakit.html [April 2022]
- 105. Sfriso, A.A., Tomio, Y., Rosso, B., Gambaro, A., Sfriso, A., Corami, F., Rastelli, E., Corinaldesi, C., Mistri, M. and Munari, C., 2020. Microplastic accumulation in benthic invertebrates in Terra Nova Bay (Ross Sea, Antarctica). Environment International, 137, p.105587.
- 106. Shen, H., Huang, Y., Wang, R., Zhu, D., Li, W., Shen, G., Wang, B., Zhang, Y., Chen, Y., Lu, Y. and Chen, H., 2013. Global atmospheric emissions of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons from 1960 to 2008 and future predictions. Environmental science & technology, 47(12), pp.6415-6424.
- 107. Shields W., et al. 2014. Chapter 6 Atmospheric Fate and Behavior of POPs. Environmental Forensics for Persistent Organic Pollutants, Elsevier Science, 199-289. ISBN 9780444594242.
- 108. Sinkkonen, S. and Paasivirta, J. 2000. Degradation half-life times of PCDDs, PCDFs and PCBs for environmental fate modeling. Chemosphere, 40(9-11), pp.943-949.

- 109. Stackelberg K., 2011. PCBs. Encyclopedia of Environmental Health, Elsevier Science, 346-356. ISBN 978-0-444-52272-6
- 110. Stanton, T., Johnson, M., Nathanail, P., Gomes, R.L., Needham, T. and Burson, A., 2019. Exploring the efficacy of Nile red in microplastic quantification: a costaining approach. Environmental Science & Technology Letters, 6(10), pp.606-611.
- 111. Stogiannidis, E. and Laane, R. 2015. Source characterization of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons by using their molecular indices: an overview of possibilities. Reviews of environmental contamination and toxicology, pp.49-133.
- 112. Strobel, A., Schmid, P., Burkhardt-Holm, P., Segner, H. and Zennegg, M., 2018. Persistent organic pollutants in red-and white-blooded High-Antarctic notothenioid fish from the remote Weddell Sea. Chemosphere, 193, pp.213-222
- 113. Szopińska, M. Szumińska, D. Bialik, R.J. Dymerski, T. Rosenberg, E. and Polkowska, Ż. 2019. Determination of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) and other organic pollutants in freshwaters on the western shore of Admiralty Bay (King George Island, Maritime Antarctica). Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 26(18), pp.18143-18161.
- 114. Szumińska, D. Czapiewski, S. Szopińska, M. and Polkowska, Ż. 2018. Analysis of air mass back trajectories with present and historical volcanic activity and anthropogenic compounds to infer pollution sources in the South Shetland Islands (Antarctica). Bulletin of Geography. Physical Geography Series, 15(1), pp.111-137.
- 115. Teng, Y. Sun, X. Zhu, L. Christie, P. and Luo, Y. 2017. Polychlorinated biphenyls in alfalfa: Accumulation, sorption and speciation in different plant parts. International Journal of Phytoremediation, 19(8), pp.732-738.
- 116. Thomas G., 2008. Polychlorinated Biphenyls. Encyclopedia of Ecology, Elsevier Science, 2872-2881. ISBN 978-0-08-045405-4
- 117. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). 2017. Water Quality Standards Handbook: Chapter 3: Water Quality Criteria. EPA-823-B-17-001. EPA Office of Water, Office of Science and Technology, Washington, DC. Accessed August 2022.
- 118. United Nations Environment Programme Chemicals, 2002. Eastern and Western South America REGIONAL REPORT. Regionally Based Assessment of Persistent Toxic Substances. Printed at United Nations, Geneva GE.03-00163– January 2003–300 UNEP/CHEMICALS/2003/11

- 119. Vega-García, S., Sánchez-García, L., Prieto-Ballesteros, O. and Carrizo, D., 2021. Molecular and isotopic biogeochemistry on recently-formed soils on King George Island (Maritime Antarctica) after glacier retreat upon warming climate. Science of the Total Environment, 755, p.142662.
- 120. Wang, C. Sun, Y. Ruan, H. and Yang, J. 2021. Toxic effects of 2, 4, 4'trichlorobiphenyl (PCB-28) on growth, photosynthesis characteristics and antioxidant defense system of Lemna minor L. Plant Physiology and Biochemistry, 166, pp.505-511.
- 121. Wang, D. Ma, H. Chen, Z. and Shi, G. 2022. Occurrences and possible sources of persistent organic pollutants (POPs) in ice-free area soils in East Antarctica. CATENA, 212, p.106083.
- 122. Wang, W., Leung, A.O.W., Chu, L.H. and Wong, M.H., 2018. Phthalates contamination in China: Status, trends and human exposure-with an emphasis on oral intake. Environmental Pollution, 238, pp.771-782.
- 123. Wang, X., Wang, C., Zhu, T., Gong, P., Fu, J. and Cong, Z., 2019. Persistent organic pollutants in the polar regions and the Tibetan Plateau: A review of current knowledge and future prospects. Environmental Pollution, 248, pp.191-208.
- 124. Wania, F. and Mackay, D. 1995. A global distribution model for persistent organic chemicals. Science of the Total Environment, 160, pp.211-232.
- 125. Watters, G.M., Hinke, J.T. and Reiss, C.S., 2020. Long-term observations from Antarctica demonstrate that mismatched scales of fisheries management and predator-prey interaction lead to erroneous conclusions about precaution. Scientific reports, 10(1), pp.1-9.
- 126. Williams, A.J. Grulke, C.M. Edwards, J. et al. The CompTox Chemistry Dashboard: a community data resource for environmental chemistry. J Cheminform 9, 61 (2017). 10.1186/s13321-017-0247.
- 127. Wong, R.R. Lim, Z.S. Shaharuddin, N.A. Zulkharnain, A. Gomez-Fuentes, C. and Ahmad, S.A. 2021. Diesel in Antarctica and a bibliometric study on its indigenous microorganisms as remediation agent. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(4), p.1512.
- 128. Wratt, G.S. 2013. A story of Antarctic co-operation: 25 years of the Council of Managers of National Antarctic Programs. Council of Managers of National Antarctic Programs. doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2019.01.093
- 129. Zalasiewicz, J., et al. 2016. The geological cycle of plastics and their use as a stratigraphic indicator of the Anthropocene. Anthropocene, Volume 13, pp.4-17.
- 130. Zhang, F. Zhao, M. Ma, C. Wang, L. Feng, C. Li, L. and Ma, L. 2018. A metabolomic study of Antarctic krill (Euphausia superba) raises a warning about Antarctic pollution. Crustaceana, 91(8), pp.961-999.
- 131. Zhang, Y. Gao, T. Kang, S. and Sillanpää, M. 2019. Importance of atmospheric transport for microplastics deposited in remote areas. *Environmental Pollution*, 254, p.112953.
- 132. Zheng, Y. Zhou, K. Tang, J. Liu, C. and Bai, J. 2022. Impacts of di-(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate on Folsomia candida (Collembola) assessed with a multi-biomarker approach. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety, 232, p.113251.]

APPENDIX A

DATA TABLES OF CONTMAINATION CONCENTRATIONS

IN INDVIDUAL SOIL SAMPLES AT EACH SITE

Samples were analyzed for approximately three hundred individual contaminants, with detection limits reported in Polidoro et al. (2017). Minimum detection limits (MDL) were estimated by doubling the lowest standard concentration that showed a peak, with a signal-to-noise ratio greater than three. Extraction method recoveries ranged from 40% to 90% for PCBs, 25% to 70% for pesticides, from 30% to 80% for phthalates, and from 20% to 90% for PAHs. All results presented are uncorrected for method recoveries.

Delected Concentra	tion of FCB.	s (µg)	I	Polychlorinated	l Biphenyl (PC	CB)			
-				-					2,2,3,3,
			2,3,4,4,5-	2,3,3,4,4-	2,3,4,4,5-	2,4-	2,4,4-	2-	4,5,6,6-
		3,5-Dichloro	Pentachloro	Pentachloro	Pentachloro	Dichloro	Trichloro	Chloro	Octachloro
Sample	Biphenyl	biphenyl	biphenyl	biphenyl	biphenyl	biphenyl	biphenyl	biphenyl	biphenyl
ANT_SIG_44	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.17505	0	0.00222
ANT_SIG_48	0.00652	0.00064	0	0	0	0	0.96656	0	0.00135
ANT_SIG_49	0.00342	0	0	0	0	0	0.35454	0	0.00209
ANT_SIG_50	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.41455	0	0
ANT_SIG_52	0.00910	0	0	0	0	0	2.32162	0	0.00127
ANT_SIG_53	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.68963	0	0.00174
ANT_ANC_11	0	0	0.00195	0	0	0	0	0	0
ANT_ANC_14	0	0	0	0	0.00121	0	0	0	0.00287
ANT_ANC_26	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
ANT_ANC_30	0	0	0.00078	0	0	0	0	0	0
ANT_ANC_61	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
ANT_ANC_62	0	0	0.00142	0.00090	0.00298	0	0	0	0
ANT_BISC_43	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.03432	0	0.00149
ANT_BISC_51	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.27739	0	0.00339
ANT_BISC_52	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.00270
ANT_BISC_54	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.23616	0	0.00110
ANT_BISC_55	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.00415	0	0.00162
ANT_BISC_56	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
ANT_BERTH_11	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.11061	0	0.00158
ANT_BERTH_12	0	0	0	0	0	0	1.31957	0	0.00184
ANT_BERTH_13	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.17683	0	0.01420
ANT_BERTH_14	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.37448	0	0.00148
ANT_BERTH_15	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.08501	0	0.00146
ANT_JENNY_16	0.00772	0	0	0	0	0	0.89199	0	0.00153
ANT_JENNY_17	0.01042	0	0	0	0	0	0.47068	0	0.00164
ANT_JENNY_18	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.02777	0	0
ANT_JENNY_19	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.15296	0	0.00129
ANT_JENNY_20	0.00864	0	0	0	0	0	0.78504	0	0.00117
ANT_ARES_02	0.01467	0	0	0	0	0.00417	0	0.00471	0.00862
ANT_ARES_04	0.01215	0	0	0	0	0.00241	0	0	0.00963
ANT_ARES_06	0.01286	0	0	0	0	0	2.89192	0	0
ANT_ARES_08	0.01420	0	0	0	0	0	5.73222	0	0.00294
ANT_ARES_10	0.01682	0	0	0	0	0	3.20549	0	0.00136
ANT_ARES_12	0.00821	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.00327	0

Table A1

Detected Concentration of PCBs (µg)

Note. Concentrations were detected in micrograms (µg). A zero (0) value indicates a value below the minimum detection limit. Abbreviations are as follows: ANT (Antarctica), SIG (Signy Island), ANC (Anchorage Island), BISC (Biscoe Island), BERTH (Berthelot Island), JENNY (Jenny Island), ARES (Ares Oasis).

Table A2

		Pe	esticide					
	4H-Cyclopenta [def]							
Sample	Hexachlorobenzene	Mirex	phenanthrene	Fenitrothion				
ANT_SIG_44	0	0	0.00292	0				
ANT_SIG_48	0	0	0.00170	0				
ANT_SIG_49	0	0	0	0				
ANT_SIG_50	0	0	0	0				
ANT_SIG_52	0	0	0	0				
ANT_SIG_53	0	0	0	0				
ANT_ANC_11	0	0	0	0				
ANT_ANC_14	0	0	0	0				
ANT_ANC_26	0.00387	0	0.00277	0				
ANT_ANC_30	0	0	0	0				
ANT_ANC_61	0.00123	0.00470	0	0				
ANT_ANC_62	0.00148	0	0	0				
ANT_BISC_43	0	0.00192	0	0				
ANT_BISC_51	0	0.00138	0	0.00905				
ANT_BISC_52	0	0	0	0				
ANT_BISC_54	0	0	0	0				
ANT_BISC_55	0	0	0	0				
ANT_BISC_56	0	0	0	0				
ANT_BERTH_11	0	0	0	0				
ANT_BERTH_12	0	0	0	0				
ANT_BERTH_13	0	0	0	0				
ANT_BERTH_14	0	0	0	0				
ANT_BERTH_15	0.00133	0	0	0				
ANT_JENNY_16	0	0	0	0				
ANT_JENNY_17	0.00092	0	0	0				
ANT_JENNY_18	0	0	0	0				
ANT_JENNY_19	0	0	0	0				
ANT_JENNY_20	0.00183	0.00287	0	0				
ANT_ARES_02	0	0	0	0				
ANT_ARES_04	0	0	0	0				
ANT_ARES_06	0	0	0.06256	0				
ANT_ARES_08	0	0	0	0				
ANT_ARES_10	0	0	0	0				
ANT_ARES_12	0.00178	0	0	0				

Detected Concentration of Pesticide (µg)

Note. Concentrations were detected in micrograms (µg). A zero (0) value indicates a value below the minimum detection limit. Abbreviations are as follows: ANT (Antarctica), SIG (Signy Island), ANC (Anchorage Island), BISC (Biscoe Island), BERTH (Berthelot Island), JENNY (Jenny Island), ARES (Ares Oasis).

Table A3	ţ
Detected	Concentration of PAHs (µg)

	Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbon (PAH)								
				•	•	· ,		Indeno	Dibenz
					Benzo (k)	Benzo [b+k]	Benzo (a)	(1,2,3-cd)	(a,h)
Sample	Fluorene	Anthracene	Fluoranthene	Pyrene	fluoranthene	fluoranthene	pyrene	pyrene	anthracene
ANT_SIG_44	0	0.00160	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
ANT_SIG_48	0.00239	0	0.00080	0.00104	0	0	0	0	0
ANT_SIG_49	0.00088	0.00123	0	0	0	0	0	0.00016	0
ANT_SIG_50	0.00107	0.00108	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
ANT_SIG_52	0.00318	0.00397	0	0	0	0	0	0.00016	0
ANT_SIG_53	0	0.00125	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
ANT_ANC_11	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
ANT_ANC_14	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
ANT_ANC_26	0	0	0	0	0.00022	0.00028	0.00019	0	0.00241
ANT_ANC_30	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
ANT_ANC_61	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
ANT_ANC_62	0	0.00067	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
ANT_BISC_43	0	0.00076	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
ANT_BISC_51	0	0.00072	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
ANT_BISC_52	0	0.00045	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
ANT_BISC_54	0	0.00025	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
ANT_BISC_55	0	0.00051	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
ANT_BISC_56	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
ANT_BERTH_11	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
ANT_BERTH_12	0	0.00012	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
ANT_BERTH_13	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
ANT_BERTH_14	0	0.00041	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
ANT_BERTH_15	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.00020	0.00031
ANT_JENNY_16	0.00123	0.00175	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
ANT_JENNY_17	0.00183	0.00268	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
ANT_JENNY_18	0.00090	0.00142	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
ANT_JENNY_19	0.00090	0.00093	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
ANT_JENNY_20	0.00227	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
ANT_ARES_02	0.00110	0.00942	0	0.00057	0	0	0	0	0
ANT_ARES_04	0.00029	0.00853	0	0.00082	0	0	0	0	0
ANT_ARES_06	0	0.00772	0	0.00096	0	0	0	0	0
ANT_ARES_08	0	0	0	0.00095	0	0	0	0	0
ANT_ARES_10	0.00254	0.00915	0.00043	0	0	0	0	0	0
ANT_ARES_12	0.00101	0.00594	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Note. Concentrations were detected in micrograms (μg). A zero (0) value indicates a value below the minimum detection limit. Abbreviations are as follows: ANT (Antarctica), SIG (Signy Island), ANC (Anchorage Island), BISC (Biscoe Island), BERTH (Berthelot Island), JENNY (Jenny Island), ARES (Ares Oasis).

Table A4

Sample	C-16	C-18	C-30	C-36
ANT_SIG_44	0.10927	0.23310	0.46589	0.51787
ANT_SIG_48	0.32584	0.34630	1.65599	1.66658
ANT_SIG_49	0.37428	0	0.62669	0.90353
ANT_SIG_50	0.23652	0.27198	0.64965	0.76864
ANT_SIG_52	0.49817	0.84346	2.11810	1.71137
ANT_SIG_53	0.05919	0	0.48849	0.47520
ANT_ANC_11	0.74316	5.08922	3.01096	3.89011
ANT_ANC_14	0.31759	3.93285	2.33664	2.42288
ANT_ANC_26	0.47300	2.75163	5.25318	6.65634
ANT_ANC_30	0.57799	2.50696	3.11915	4.13756
ANT_ANC_61	0.32538	0.93955	0.60449	0.34883
ANT_ANC_62	1.51964	6.88774	3.06609	2.70745
ANT_BISC_43	0.29658	0.08012	0.36125	0.37822
ANT_BISC_51	0.53784	0.08094	0.12069	0.07026
ANT_BISC_52	0.58905	0.04329	0.06241	0.06430
ANT_BISC_54	0.10525	0	0.27094	0.05857
ANT_BISC_55	0.22294	0	0.12887	0.05101
ANT_BISC_56	0	0	0	0
ANT_BERTH_11	0	0.24397	0.22618	0.42154
ANT_BERTH_12	0	0.17207	0.16162	0.31352
ANT_BERTH_13	0.15904	0.50770	0.42008	0.91512
ANT_BERTH_14	0.16093	0.54753	0.68860	0.77460
ANT_BERTH_15	0.42377	0	3.17231	0.57615
ANT_JENNY_16	0.17310	0	1.07893	0.39346
ANT_JENNY_17	0.50072	0.39635	4.68298	1.50476
ANT_JENNY_18	0.06444	0.27899	3.07668	1.07296
ANT_JENNY_19	0.22377	1.04572	1.90076	1.42090
ANT_JENNY_20	0.36038	0.54089	2.25458	1.18450
ANT_ARES_02	0.93454	0.01131	0.21829	0.07567
ANT_ARES_04	0.89915	0.10773	0.27962	0.14452
ANT_ARES_06	1.18938	0.12460	0.39998	0.17521
ANT_ARES_08	0.97737	0	0.23036	0.07114
ANT_ARES_10	0.81332	0.04951	0.20220	0.06513
ANT_ARES_12	0.77925	1.27007	0.34723	0.01530

Detected Concentration of n-Alkanes (µg)

Note. Concentrations were detected in micrograms (μ g). A zero (0) value indicates a value below the minimum detection limit. Abbreviations are as follows: ANT (Antarctica), SIG (Signy Island), ANC (Anchorage Island), BISC (Biscoe Island), BERTH (Berthelot Island), JENNY (Jenny Island), ARES (Ares Oasis).

Table A5	
----------	--

	Phthalate						
Sample	BHT	Dibutyl phthalate	Dicyclohexyl phthalate	Di-n-octyl phthalate			
ANT_SIG_44	0.00112	0.00156	0	0			
ANT_SIG_48	0.00095	0.00316	0	0			
ANT_SIG_49	0.00316	0.00346	0	0			
ANT_SIG_50	0.00108	0.00274	0	0			
ANT_SIG_52	0.00529	0.00768	0.00109	0			
ANT_SIG_53	0.00142	0.00099	0.00055	0			
ANT_ANC_11	0.00113	0.00158	0	0.00933			
ANT_ANC_14	0	0.00064	0	0.00917			
ANT_ANC_26	0.00817	0	0	0			
ANT_ANC_30	0.00121	0.00143	0	0.00919			
ANT_ANC_61	0.00118	0.00349	0	0			
ANT_ANC_62	0.00089	0.00680	0	0			
ANT_BISC_43	0.00100	0.00133	0.00371	0			
ANT_BISC_51	0	0.00182	0.00292	0			
ANT_BISC_52	0	0	0.00251	0			
ANT_BISC_54	0	0.00073	0.00047	0			
ANT_BISC_55	0	0.00058	0.00186	0			
ANT_BISC_56	0	0	0	0			
ANT_BERTH_11	0.00040	0.00070	0	0			
ANT_BERTH_12	0	0.00096	0.00053	0.02141			
ANT_BERTH_13	0.00212	0.00230	0.00559	0			
ANT_BERTH_14	0.00054	0	0	0			
ANT_BERTH_15	0.00419	0	0	0			
ANT_JENNY_16	0.00045	0.00158	0.00222	0			
ANT_JENNY_17	0	0	0	0			
ANT_JENNY_18	0.00301	0.00065	0.00130	0.00982			
ANT_JENNY_19	0.00336	0.00255	0.00493	0			
ANT_JENNY_20	0	0	0	0			
ANT_ARES_02	0	0	0.00317	0			
ANT_ARES_04	0	0	0.00160	0			
ANT_ARES_06	0	0	0.00555	0			
ANT_ARES_08	0	0	0.00538	0			
ANT_ARES_10	0	0.00196	0.00075	0			
ANT_ARES_12	0	0.00091	0	0			

Detected Concentration of Phthalates (μg)

Note. Concentrations were detected in micrograms (µg). A zero (0) value indicates a value below the minimum detection limit. Abbreviations are as follows: ANT (Antarctica), SIG (Signy Island), ANC (Anchorage Island), BISC (Biscoe Island), BERTH (Berthelot Island), JENNY (Jenny Island), ARES (Ares Oasis).

Table A6	
Pieces of Microplastic	Counted

i teees oj interoptas				Microplast	ic		
Site	Pieces A	Fibers A	Total A	Pieces B	Fibers B	Total B	Total A + Total B
ANT_SIG_44	13	1	14	12	8	20	34
ANT_SIG_48	12	4	16	13	2	15	31
ANT_SIG_49	10	5	15	0	7	7	22
ANT_SIG_50	18	2	20	14	4	18	7Å ⁸
ANT_SIG_52	11	3	14	7	4	11	25
ANT_SIG_53	6	0	6	Х	Х	0	6
ANT_ANC_11	6	2	8	3	1	4	12
ANT_ANC_14	3	2	5	11	2	13	18
ANT_ANC_26	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
ANT_ANC_30	14	4	18	8	0	8	26
ANT_ANC_61	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
ANT_ANC_62	8	4	12	3	3	6	18
ANT_BISC_43	36	22	58	24	8	32	90
ANT_BISC_51	11	11	22	5	4	9	31
ANT_BISC_52	9	7	16	29	2	31	47
ANT_BISC_54	9	9	18	32	3	35	53
ANT_BISC_55	29	11	40	9	9	18	58
ANT_BISC_56	17	6	23	12	4	16	39
ANT_BERTH_11	9	0	9	1	4	5	14
ANT_BERTH_12	16	4	20	8	4	12	32
ANT_BERTH_13	0	0	0	14	2	16	16
ANT_BERTH_14	11	10	21	0	5	5	26
ANT_BERTH_15	4	1	5	21	7	28	33
ANT_JENNY_16	10	5	15	11	4	15	30
ANT_JENNY_17	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
ANT_JENNY_18	7	0	7	12	2	14	21
ANT_JENNY_19	8	1	9	3	2	5	14
ANT_JENNY_20	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
ANT_ARES_02	7	2	9	8	1	9	18
ANT_ARES_04	1	1	2	10	19	29	31
ANT_ARES_06	4	6	10	5	10	15	25
ANT_ARES_08	0	0	0	26	13	39	39
ANT_ARES_10	15	7	22	8	1	9	31
ANT_ARES_12	13	6	19	0	0	0	19

Note. Samples were filtered twice. The first filtration is represented by (A), while (B) represents the second. Zero values denote no fluorescent microplastic seen and the (X) represents a dropped sample. Abbreviations are as follows: ANT (Antarctica), SIG (Signy Island), ANC (Anchorage Island), BISC (Biscoe Island), BERTH (Berthelot Island), JENNY (Jenny Island), ARES (Ares Oasis).